

Det här verket är upphovrättskyddat enligt *Lagen (1960:729) om upphovsrätt till litterära och konstnärliga verk*. Det har digitaliserats med stöd av Kap. 1, 16 § första stycket p 1, för forskningsändamål, och får inte spridas vidare till allmänheten utan upphovsrättsinehavarens medgivande.

Alla tryckta texter är OCR-tolkade till maskinläsbar text. Det betyder att du kan söka och kopiera texten från dokumentet. Vissa äldre dokument med dåligt tryck kan vara svåra att OCR-tolka korrekt vilket medför att den OCR-tolkade texten kan innehålla fel och därför bör man visuellt jämföra med verkets bilder för att avgöra vad som är riktigt.

This work is protected by Swedish Copyright Law (*Lagen (1960:729) om upphovsrätt till litterära och konstnärliga verk)*. It has been digitized with support of Kap. 1, 16 § första stycket p 1, for scientific purpose, and may no be dissiminated to the public without consent of the copyright holder.

All printed texts have been OCR-processed and converted to machine readable text. This means that you can search and copy text from the document. Some early printed books are hard to OCR-process correctly and the text may contain errors, so one should always visually compare it with the images to determine what is correct.



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET göteborgs universitetsbibliotek

Immune recognition and early virus-cell interactions: Glycobiological aspects on HIV-1 gp120

Gregers J. Gram



Department of Clinical Virology University of Göteborg Sweden 2001



Immune recognition and early virus-cell interactions: Glycobiological aspects on HIV-1 gp120

Akademisk avhandling

Som för avläggende av medicine doktorsexamen vid Göteborgs Universitet offentligen kommer att försvaras i Mikrobiologens föreläsningssal, Guldhedsgatan 10 A, 3 tr,

Onsdagen den 6 juni 2001, kl 13.00

av

Gregers J. Gram

Avhandlingen baseras på följande arbeten:

- I. Gram GJ, Hemming A, Bolmstedt A, Jansson B, Olofsson S, Åkerblom L, Nielsen JO and Hansen J-ES. Identification of an N-linked glycan in the V1loop of HIV-1 gp120 influencing neutralization by anti-V3 antibodies and soluble CD4. *Arch Virol* (1994), 139(3-4): 253-261.
- II. Hansen J-ES, Jansson B, Gram GJ, Clausen H, Nielsen JO and Olofsson S. Sensitivity of HIV-1 to neutralization by antibodies against O-linked carbohydrate epitopes despite deletion of O-glycosylation signals in the V3 loop. Arch Virol (1996), 141(2): 291-300
- III. Schønning K, Joost M, Gram GJ, Machuca R, Nielsen C, Nielsen JO, Hansen J-ES. Chemokine receptor polymorphism and autologous neutralizing antibody response in long-term HIV-1 infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol (1998), 18(3):195-202.
- IV. Gram GJ, Bolmstedt A, Schønning K, Biller M, Hansen J-ES, Olofsson S. Orientation-specific anti-gp120 antibody reactivity in sera from HIV infected individuals determined by a new N-glycanase protection assay. Submitted for publication.

Immune recognition and early virus-cell interactions: Glycobiological aspects on HIV-1 gp120

Gregers J. Gram

Department of Clinical Virology, University of Göteborg, Sweden

Abstract

Human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 (HIV-1 and HIV-2) are the etiological agents of AIDS in humans. The viral envelope glycoproteins gp120 and gp41 mediate the early virus-cell interaction of HIV with the target cells. The envelope glycoprotein is organised into trimeric complexes on the virion surface and the heavily glycosylated gp120 contains both N- and O-linked glycans. The glycosylation is necessary for generation of correct conformation but it is also an important component to decrease the susceptibility of the virus to immune responses of the host. These and other factors are likely to influence the progression of the natural infection in HIV infected individuals. Several aspects of N-linked glycans and O-linked glycans of gp120 were investigated.

We characterised two N-glycan in the V1-loop and V3-loop of gp120 and found both N-glycans to be of the complex type. Further, these N-glycans was found to influence the sensitivity of the virus to neutralising antibodies. We deleted all potential O-glycan sites in the V3-loop of gp120, to pin-point the unknown location of broadly O-linked neutralisation epitopes of gp120. However, the location of these neutralisation epitopes must be outside of the V3-loop. Using a novel deglycosylation assay, we identified N-glycans located in the vicinity of the CD4 binding site and epitopes on gp120 recognised by antibodies from HIV infected individuals. However, these recognition sites were found to be only partly overlapping. These antibody responses are likely to influence the progression of infection in HIV infected individuals, but the presence of autologous neutralising antibodies was not a requirement in persons displaying a slow progressing HIV infection. However, a non-syncytium viral phenotype in conjunction with a mutant allele carrying a 32 base pair deletion in the CCR5 co-receptor gene, was found to be predictive for slow progressing infection.

Keywords: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), glycoprotein, gp120, glycosylation.

Immune recognition and early virus-cell interactions: Glycobiological aspects on HIV-1 gp120

Gregers J. Gram



Department of Clinical Virology University of Göteborg Sweden 2001

Printed at H:S Hvidovre Hospital, Denmark

Immune recognition and early virus-cell interactions: Glycobiological aspects on HIV-1 gp120

Gregers J. Gram

Department of Clinical Virology, University of Göteborg, Sweden

Abstract

Human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 (HIV-1 and HIV-2) are the etiological agents of AIDS in humans. The viral envelope glycoproteins gp120 and gp41 mediate the early virus-cell interaction of HIV with the target cells. The envelope glycoprotein is organised into trimeric complexes on the virion surface and the heavily glycosylated gp120 contains both N- and O-linked glycans. The glycosylation is necessary for generation of correct conformation but it is also an important component to decrease the susceptibility of the virus to immune responses of the host. These and other factors are likely to influence the progression of the natural infection in HIV infected individuals. Several aspects of N-linked glycans and O-linked glycans of gp120 were investigated.

We characterised two N-glycan in the V1-loop and V3-loop of gp120 and found both N-glycans to be of the complex type. Further, these N-glycans was found to influence the sensitivity of the virus to neutralising antibodies. We deleted all potential O-glycan sites in the V3-loop of gp120, to pin-point the unknown location of broadly O-linked neutralisation epitopes of gp120. However, the location of these neutralisation epitopes must be outside of the V3-loop. Using a novel deglycosylation assay, we identified N-glycans located in the vicinity of the CD4 binding site and epitopes on gp120 recognised by antibodies from HIV infected individuals. However, these recognition sites were found to be only partly overlapping. These antibody responses are likely to influence the progression of infection in HIV infected individuals, but the presence of autologous neutralising antibodies was not a requirement in persons displaying a slow progressing HIV infection. However, a non-syncytium viral phenotype in conjunction with a mutant allele carrying a 32 base pair deletion in the CCR5 co-receptor gene, was found to be predictive for slow progressing infection.

Keywords: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), glycoprotein, gp120, glycosylation.

ISBN 91-628-4797-X

List of publications

This dissertation is based on the following papers:

- I. Gram GJ, Hemming A, Bolmstedt A, Jansson B, Olofsson S, Åkerblom L, Nielsen JO and Hansen J-ES. Identification of an N-linked glycan in the V1loop of HIV-1 gp120 influencing neutralization by anti-V3 antibodies and soluble CD4. *Arch Virol* (1994) 139(3-4): 253-261.
- II. Hansen J-ES, Jansson B, Gram GJ, Clausen H, Nielsen JO and Olofsson S. Sensitivity of HIV-1 to neutralization by antibodies against O-linked carbohydrate epitopes despite deletion of O-glycosylation signals in the V3 loop. Arch Virol (1996) 141(2): 291-300
- III. Schønning K, Joost M, Gram GJ, Machuca R, Nielsen C, Nielsen JO, Hansen J-ES. Chemokine receptor polymorphism and autologous neutralizing antibody response in long-term HIV-1 infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol (1998) 18(3):195-202.
- IV. Gram GJ, Bolmstedt A, Schønning K, Biller M, Hansen J-ES, Olofsson S. Orientation-specific anti-gp120 antibody reactivity in sera from HIV infected individuals determined by a new N-glycanase protection assay. Submitted for publication.

ERRATUM Table and figure numbers

The numbers of the tables and figures were left out by mistake.

Table 1: Page 10, top.

Table 2: Page 10, bottom.

Figure 1: Page 10.

Figure 2: Page 11.

Figure 3: Page 13.

Figure 4: Page 15.

Figure 5: Page 19.

Figure 6: Page 27.

Figure 7: Page 29.



Contents

ABSTRACT	3
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	4
CONTENTS	5
ABBREVIATIONS	6
BRIEF INTRODUCTION & AIMS	7
GENERAL BACKGROUND	9
Retroviruses	9
HIV-1 and HIV-2	11
AIDS epidemic	12
Clinical course and parameters of HIV-1 infection	12
Treatment of HIV	14
Infectious cycle of HIV-1	14
Receptors and co-receptors of HIV	16
Early virus-cell interactions	17
Envelope glycoprotein, gp120	17
Biosynthesis of gp120	18
Structure and function of gp120	18
Biological functions of carbohydrates on gp120	20
O-linked glycans of gp120	21
N-linked glycans of gp120	21
Immune recognition of HIV	23
METHODS	25
Cells and virus	25
ELISA	26
Radio immunoprecipitation assay RIPA	26
Deglycosylation assay	27
SUMMARY OF RESULTS	28
N-glycans and modulation of antibody sensitivity	28
Deletion of potential O-glycans in the V3-loop	28
Accessibility to N-glycans of gp120	30
Factors influencing disease progression.	31
GENERAL DISCUSSION	32
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	39
REFERENCES	. 41
APPENDIX	59

Abbreviations

Ab	Antibody				
AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency syndrome				
CCR5	β-chemokine receptor - coreceptor for HIV				
CD4	Cluster of differentiation antigen 4; cell membrane molecule;				
	receptor for HIV				
CD4bs	CD4 binding site - the region of gp120 interacting with CD4				
CXCR4	β-chemokine receptor - coreceptor for HIV				
D7324	Antibody against the C5 region of gp120				
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid				
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay				
gp	Glycoprotein				
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus				
HIV Ig	Immunoglobulins from HIV infected individuals				
HTLV	Human T-cell leukemia virus.				
HAART	Highly active antiretroviral therapy				
Ig	Immunoglobulins				
2G12	Human anti-gp120 MAb directed against a discontinous epitope of				
	gp120 ¹⁹⁵				
LTNP	Long-term nonprogressors				
MAb	Monoclonal antibody				
NEA9205	Antibody against the tip of the V3 loop of gp120				
NSI	Non-syncytium inducing				
P4/D10	Antibody against the V3 loop of gp120 ¹				
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction				
RIPA	Radio-immuno-precipitation-assay				
RNA	Ribonucleic acid				
RPI	Rapid progressing infection				
sCD4	Recombinant soluble form of the CD4 molecule				
SI	Syncytium inducing				
SIV	Simian immunodeficiency virus				
SPI	Slow progressing infection				
Th epitope	T-helper cell epitope				

Tn O-linked carbohydrate neo-antigen, GalNac-Ser/Thr

Brief introduction & Aims

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), is the etiological agent of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). The virus expresses on the surface the viral glycoprotein, gp120 that is important in the early virus-cell interactions for infection of target cells. The extensive glycosylated gp120 molecule is modified by both N-linked and O-linked glycans that have structural as well as functional roles. Some of the O-linked glycans can serve as neutralising structures, but their location on gp120 still remains unknown. On the other hand, the more bulky N-linked glycans can modulate the accessibility and recognition of antibodies to gp120. Available data suggests that N-glycosylation significantly contributes to the viral escape from the immune responses in HIV infected individuals. However, other factors are likely to influence the progression of the HIV infection.

The aims of this dissertation were:

- 1. To characterise the role of a defined N-linked glycan strategically located in the triple-nested S-S bridged V1 region of gp120, and to structurally classify this particular glycan.
- 2. To determine whether the broadly reactive carbohydrate gp120 neutralisation targets, consisting of short O-glycan neoantigens, are localised in the V3 region.
- 3. To establish a method for determining N-linked glycan accessibility after antibody binding to gp120 and appreciate the density of glycans in the vicinity of neutralising epitopes and the CD4-binding domain.
- 4. To apply this assay and a crossed neutralisation assay, combining consecutive pairs of sera and HIV-1 isolates from patients for analysis of disease progression in HIV-infected individuals.

General background

Retroviruses

Retroviruses are RNA viruses, characterised by their ability to create a DNA copy of their viral RNA genome, which later becomes integrated in the host cell chromosomes. Retroviruses have probably existed for millions of years, but it was not until the late 1960's that retroviruses were identified as a special family of RNA viruses through discovery of the reverse transcriptase in Murine leukemia virus and Rous sarcoma virus^{10;193}. David Baltimore and Howard Temin received the Nobel for this discovery in 1975. In 1980, the first human pathogenic retrovirus, Human T-cell leukemia virus, was identified^{159;160} and only a few years later the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) was identified by French and American scientists^{11;60;101;197}.

Retroviruses have been identified for all vertebrate species and have been categorised based on their morphology in electron microscopy^{16;63}:

A-type: 'Intracisternal particles'. Non-enveloped, immature particles only seen inside cells, believed to result from endogenous retrovirus-like genetic elements. **B-type**: Enveloped, extracellular virus particles with a condensed, acentric core and prominent envelope spikes, e.g. MMTV.

C-type: As B-type, but with a central core and barely visible spikes - e.g. most mammalian and avian retroviruses (MLV, ALV, HTLV, HIV).

D-type: Usually the largest virus particle (to 120 nm) and spikes less prominent, e.g. MPMV.

An improved understanding of the genetic relationships between retroviruses resulted in a classification into several orders, suborders, families and genera (⁷⁹ and ICTV web: www.ncbi.nml.nih.gov/ICTV/) (Table 1).

Retrovirales			
Orthoretrovi	idae		
Rei	troviridae		
	Alpharetrovirus	Avian leukosis virus	
	Betaretrovirus	Mouse mammary tumor virus	
	Gammaretrovirus	Murine leukernia virus	
	Deltaretrovirus	Bovine leukemia virus	
	Epsiloretrovirus	Walley dermal sarcoma virus	
	Lentivirus	Human immunodeficiency virus 1	Bovine immunodeficiency virus (BIV) Equine infectious anemia virus (EIAV) Feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) Caprine arthritis encephalitis virus (CAEV, Visna/maedi virus Human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) Human immunodeficiency virus 2 (HIV-2) Simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV)
	Spumavirus	Human spumavirus	

Retroviruses share a common basic genetic composition of gag (structural), pol (enzymatic) and env (envelope) genes flanked by two long terminal repeats (LTR) (Fig. 1).



The retroviral gene products have common functions and locations in the virus particle (Table 2 and Figure 2).

Gene	Neline)	Protein	Function
gag	MA	matrix	matrix protein; lines envelope
gag	CA	capsid	capsid protein; protects the core; most abundant protein in virus particle
gag	NC	nucleocapsid.	nucleocapsid protein; protects the genome; forms the core
pol	PR	Protease	Essential for gag protein cleavage during maturation of the viral particle
pol	RT	Reverse transcriptase	Reverse transcribes the RNA genome; has RNAseH activity
pol	IN	Integrase	Needed for integration of the provirus
env	SU	surface glycoprotein The outer envelope glycoprotein; major virus antigen	
env	TM	transmembrane protein	The inner component of the mature envelope glycoprotein

Table Fejl! Ukendt argument for parameter.. Names and functions of retroviral gene products. Modified from Freed, 1998 ⁵⁷.



HIV-1 and HIV-2

A few years after the identification of HIV a homologous, but distinct, type of HIV was identified in Africa^{34;92}. This HIV virus was termed HIV type 2 (HIV-2). HIV-1 appear to be the result of multiple zoonotic transmissions of humans from SIV infected non-human primate chimpanzees, whereas HIV-2 appear to be originating from non-human sooty mangabeys. The zoonotic event believes to have occurred around $1931^{61;62;89;213}$. This estimate coincides with the French colonisation of equatorial Africa, that may have increased the risk factors for zoonotic transmission of HIV-1³².

HIV-1 and HIV-2 are classified as slowly pathogenic viruses, lentiviruses. This genus includes other mammalian retroviruses, such as EIAV (Equines, horses), CAEV (caprines, goats), Visna/maedi virus (ovines, sheeps), BIV (bovines, cattle), FIV (felines; cats) SIV (simian, monkeys)^{63;141} (Table 1).

AIDS epidemic

The acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) was first described in the beginning of 1980's where immunodeficiency-associated conditions, such as *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia, Kaposis sarcoma, *candidia albicans*, and chronic herpes simplex lesions, were found in male homosexuals and intravenous drug abusers^{64;80;117;184}. In the following years, the number of AIDS cases increased rapidly and now it was also found among haemophiliacs, blood transfusions recipients and sex partners of AIDS patients too. In 1983/1984 the HIV virus was isolated from AIDS patients, and the etiological agent of AIDS was identified.

By the end of 1999, the total number of HIV-infected individuals was estimated to be about 34.2 million. During the year 1999, more than 5.4 million had been infected with HIV and approximately 2.8 million had died of AIDS. Accumulated, 18.8 million people have died of HIV/AIDS in the 20th century and over 53 million people have been infected with HIV (www.unaids.org).

Clinical course and parameters of HIV-1 infection

The clinical course of HIV infection begins with exposure to HIV. Humans are exposed to and infected with HIV via different routes (in alphabetical order): artificial insemination, birth, blood contaminated syringes, blood transfusions (blood derivatives in medicine), breast milk, intimate sexual contact, *in utero*, transplantation. Intimate sexual contact is the primary route of HIV infection. The natural HIV infection is chronic and will eventually lead to death of the

infected individual. The clinical course of HIV infection is divided into several phases; Infection, seroconversion, asymptomatic, symptomatic and AIDS (Figure 3).

The duration of these phases may vary considerably from patient to patient, but despite intense investigation the underlying factors for this remain unclear^{29;150}. Fortunately, in the last couple of years, new chemotherapeutic approaches (combinational therapy) have extended the asymptomatic phase for many HIV

infected individuals¹⁴⁹. However, currently there is no cure to eradicate HIV in the infected individual. Once the virus is transmitted, the virus will replicate in the CD4 positive cells in the host, producing vast amounts of circulating virus particles (Figure 3 - Plasma RNA).



Shortly after infection, specific immune responses against HIV emerge^{23;91;128;130} (Figure 3 - HIV specific CTL and Antibodies to p24 and HIV env). The specific reactivities of CTL and antibodies somewhat controls the viral replication for a period of years¹³⁰, but the CTL and neutralising antibodies are believed to be responsible for the constant generation of escape mutants in vivo⁶.

In the later course of the asymptomatic phase, the concentration of circulating CD4+ T-lymphocytes cells may gradually decline to a critically low level, where the immune response no longer can control the replication of the virus or ordinary non-pathogenic infections. The progression of this immunodeficiency phase eventually leads to uncontrollable immunodeficiency disease and ultimately to death of the HIV infected individual.

Treatment of HIV

The first anti-retroviral drugs used for treatment of HIV infected individuals were inhibitors of the HIV reverse transcriptase (RT) enzyme. These drugs were nucleoside analogues that were aimed at inhibiting the reverse transcription step in the life cycle of HIV and prevent the subsequent integration of the viral genome. Treatment with these nucleoside analogue RT-inhibitors generated escape-mutants quickly and was found to have an insignificant influence on the clinical course of the disease. However, administration of a nucleoside analogue RT-inhibitor for a brief period around the time of delivery can significantly reduce the perinatal HIV transmission from mothers to their new-born babies from around 25% to 8%³⁶. Pregnant HIV infected individuals are now like other HIV infected individuals offered an improved anti-viral drug regimen, which reduce the HIV transmission rate at delivery to practically zero¹²¹. Treatment of HIV and AIDS has undergone considerable change in the last five years. Protease inhibitors and non-nucleoside-analogue RT-inhibitors profoundly suppress viral replication and even increase the CD4 cell counts when used in combination with more ordinary anti-viral drug¹⁴⁹. This combination drug regimen is called highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART). Despite the great success of the HAART treatment, adverse effects and resistant viruses to the drugs have begun to appear in the patients on HAART¹¹⁵. These problems with HAART underscore the importance of developing a long-term therapy against HIV and AIDS.

Infectious cycle of HIV-1

HIV-1 infects through binding of the virus particles to the CD4+ target cell by interactions of the envelope gp120 with the CD4 molecule and the CCR5 or CXCR4 molecules on the membrane of the target cell (primarily T-lymphocytes)^{39;120} (Figure 4). Fusion of the two lipid bilayers is mediated by conformational changes in the HIV-1 envelope gp120/gp41 complex^{58;199}. After fusion, the HIV core is released into cytoplasm of the target cell and the RNA genome is fully reversely transcribed to double stranded DNA. This DNA copy

of the viral genome is transported to the nucleus, where the viral integrase mediates integration of the provirus into the host chromosome^{196;211}. In contrast to other retroviruses, e.g. MLV, HIV has the ability to infect non-dividing cells^{103;104}. The integrated provirus is transcribed into full-length messenger RNA (mRNA) transcripts that are subsequently processed and spliced into smaller mRNA molecules. These spliced transcripts are translated into the viral regulatory proteins, Tat and Rev³⁸.



These two proteins have a significant influence on the levels of transcripts and RNA processing and assist in controlling the concerted appearance of viral elements needed to produce viral particles^{37;38}. The viral elements assemble on the inner side of the cell membrane before a premature viral particle buds off. After release of the virus particle from the cell, proteolysis in the particle is associated with condensation of the core which is necessary for viral infectivity,

but not for particle assembly or release^{83;155}. The HIV particle is now fully matured and infectious, and a new infectious cycle can begin (Figure 4).

Receptors and co-receptors of HIV

The CD4 molecule was found to function as receptor for HIV infection³⁹, ^{82;120} and it was the first retroviral receptor to be identified. The infection process of HIV is independent of pH, in contrast to e.g. the infection processes by MLV and Influenza^{163;190}. Isolates of HIV have been classified according to their inversely correlated tropism for either T-lymphocytes (T-tropic, rapid/high) or macrophages (M-tropic, slow/low). This classification was based on the observation that isolates capable of infecting T-cell lines had reduced capacity to replicate in primary macrophages⁵⁵. In addition, HIV isolates were classified as either syncytium inducing (SI) or non-syncytium inducing, according to their ability to induce syncytium formation (multinucleated cells derived from fusion of cells) in T-cells¹⁸².

Based on several observations it was questioned whether the CD4 molecule was neccesary or sufficient for HIV infection e.g. 1) CD4 negative cells, e.g. neuronal cells, could be infected when high doses of viruses were used¹⁰⁵ 2) soluble factors from e.g. CD8+ cells could inhibit the HIV infection of CD4+ cells¹⁹⁸ 3) transfer of human CD4 to mouse cells was not sufficient to confer HIV infection and replication^{25;112}. Despite intense efforts to discover a missing co-receptor it was the findings of three members of the chemokine family, namely RANTES, MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β as potent inhibitors of infection of HIV-1. HIV-2 and SIV³⁵, that led to the identification of the CXCR4 cell membrane molecule as a co-receptor for HIV infection⁵³. Based on these two findings the CCR5 molecule from the same G-protein coupled seven transmembrane (7TM) β-chemokine receptor family was identified as the co-receptor for most HIV-1 strains^{41;44}. Additional β-chemokine receptors (CCR2b, CCR3, CCR8, CCR9, CX₃CR1, GPR1, STRL33/Bonzo, GPR15/BOB, APJ, ChemR23, BLTR, US28) have been identified to support HIV or SIV infection, but their biological relevance in vivo remains uncertain^{119;170;212} (Review^{15;109}). Recently, the coreceptor binding site has been mapped on the core-structure of gp120^{96;169}.

Based on the utilisation of co-receptors CXCR4 or CCR5 a new classification system for HIV-1 have been proposed by Berger et al., 1998¹⁴. Isolates that use CCR5, but not CXCR4, are termed R5 viruses and isolates that use CXCR4 and not CCR5 are termed X4 viruses. Isolates that use both co-receptors with comparable efficiency are called R5X4 viruses.

Early virus-cell interactions

The interaction between gp120 and CD4 promotes a series of conformational proteins with respect to the target cell membrane. The binding of CD4 to gp120 induces these changes in the conformation of the envelope glycoproteins. Furthermore, several has reported that a few neutralising antibodies, sCD4 and mutations throughout gp120 can induce a similar conformational change described as an "open" or "activated" conformation of gp120. These conformational changes allow high-affinity interaction with co-receptor, CCR5 or CXCR4 and a few antibodies directed against this co-receptor bindingsite^{191;194}. The CD4-induced translocation of the V1/V2 loops results in the exposure of conserved, discontinuous structures on the HIV-1 gp120 glycoprotein recognised by the 17b and 48d monoclonal antibodies. The 17b and 48d epitopes are proximal to a gp120 region implicated in chemokine receptor binding. A plausible model is that CD4 binding to gp120 repositions the V1/V2stem, allowing the formation of an antiparallel β -sheet that contributes to the chemokine receptor binding. The V3-loop is necessary for infectivity and small substitutions can abolish infection completely⁵⁹. A recent study demonstrated that substitution of V3-loop sequences, with that of the sequence from a β chemokine ligand for the HIV co-receptor, preserved infectivity of the mutant virus particles²¹⁰. This indicates that the V3-loop is directly interacting with the co-receptor.

Envelope glycoprotein, gp120

The HIV-1 *env* gene encodes the two envelope glycoproteins, gp120 (surface, SU) and the gp41 (transmembrane, TM), that are associated non-covalently in heterotrimeric complexes in the cell membrane and subsequently in the viral envelope after the viral particle buds off $^{63;97;199;200}$. gp120 are responsible for the

binding and adherence to the target cell, whereas the gp41 are responsible for the subsequent penetration and fusion of the membranes of the cell and the virus⁵⁸. Half the molecular weight of gp120 is derived from the ~500 amino acid residues, whereas the other half is derived from more than the 25 fairly conserved N-linked oligosaccharides located throughout the protein^{42;98;100}. This makes gp120 the fourth most glycosylated protein known¹³⁹. gp120 contains a relatively small number (<10) of O-linked glycans^{17;68;72;158}. The structure of some of these O-linked glycans are truncated, but still O-glycosylation of gp120 have been shown to significantly contribute to the overall molecular mass^{17;72}. The highest diversity in the HIV genome is found in the envelope gene⁴². Variation in gp120 is not, however, dispersed throughout the entire envelope gene, but localised to several regions of lower variation (constant regions) or higher variation (variable regions)^{42;127;188}.

Biosynthesis of gp120

The viral envelope glycoproteins gp41 and gp120 are generated by proteolytic cleavage of a single precursor protein, gp160. During synthesis, the protein is N-glycosylated in the endoplasmic reticulum, where folding and oligomerisation into trimers occurs^{49;97}. At this stage, the oligomeric precursor protein gp160 has already acquired the ability to bind CD4⁵⁰. In the Golgi apparatus three important events takes place, 1) the gp160 is endoproteolytically cleaved into gp41 and gp120 2) the gp120 molecules are modified by addition of O-linked glycans and 3) a trimming and addition of carbohydrates on both N- and O-linked glycans^{17;68;90;118;157;189;201}. After trimming of glycans on the envelope products, the envelope complex is transported to the cell membrane for subsequent association with viral particles budding off the cell membrane.

Structure and function of gp120

The envelope glycoprotein gp120 was identified as a molecule that induced antibodies in AIDS patients³. Sequence homology analysis of many HIV-1 isolates identified variable regions (V1, V2, V3, V4, V5) regions and constant regions (C1, C2, C3, C4, C5, C6)^{127;188}. However, all regions are not equally important for viral functions. The V4 and V5-loop seems to be indispensable,

whereas the V1-loop, V1/V2-loop and the V3-loop is dispensable for replication, although associated with a dramatically reduction in replication^{28;187;205}.

The extensive glycosylation of gp120 has for many years made crystalisation of gp120 impossible¹³⁸. Finally, a structure of gp120 was deduced from a crystal of gp120^{96;203}. The crystal was made with a deglycosylated core fragment of gp120 lacking the V1, V2 V3 loop. The core gp120 was complexed with a CD4 fragment and a Fab antibody specific for the CCR5 binding site^{96;203}. The gp120 core fragment has preserved the ability to bind CD4 and CCR5 and displays an overall conserved antigenic profile^{19;140;203}. The structure of monomeric gp120 appears to be composed of an inner-domain and an outer-domain, connected by a four-stranded bridging β -sheet^{96;203;204} (Figure 5).



The inner-domain seems to be engaged in association with gp41 and the C- and N-terminus of gp120, whereas the outer domain is mostly exposed on the surface of the trimer. The interface between the outer and inner domains of gp120 are devoid of glycosylation and forms the binding sites for CD4 and the

co-receptor^{96;203} (Figure 5). Much of the contact between gp120 and CD4 seems to come from interactions with C α -atoms of the amino acids of gp120. Since antibodies usually interact with the side chain component of amino acids, this allows gp120 to alter amino acids in the CD4 binding site without sacrificing the ability to bind CD4²⁰². Previously, gp120 was thought to consist of two faces only^{133;134}. Elucidation of the structure has revealed a previously unknown face - the silent face. This face is situated on the outer-domain of gp120 but protected by N-linked glycosylation towards recognition by antibodies^{96;202}.

A structural comparison of the neutralisation sensitive HXBc2 with the neutralisation resistant isolate YU2 have revealed a remarkably similarity of the core gp120 from these isolates⁹⁵. This study suggested that neutralisation resistance is specified by the quaternary interactions of gp120 involving the V1/V2, V3 and V4 loops.

Biological functions of carbohydrates on gp120

The huge carbohydrate moiety of gp120 is an important component of the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein in several respects. The glycan structures of gp120 are products of the host chromosome coding, specified by the consecutive actions of transferases and glycosidases present in the ER and Golgi. However, the glycan structures are affected by the composition of the microcompartment in the ER and Golgi and e.g. the production rate of the glycoprotein, which may be influenced by the viral infection. Still, all the N-glycosylation sites of gp120 have been found to be utilised^{100;209}(I, IV). Abnormal glycosylation patterns and aberrant glycan structures have been identified on HIV envelope products not normally found in humans^{17;33;68;72;99;158}.

The carbohydrate moiety is important for gp120 to attain correct protein conformation and CD4 binding capacity^{19;204}. However, once the correct conformation is achieved the carbohydrates of gp120 seem to be dispensable for stabilisation of correct conformation. Deglycosylated gp120 preserves the ability to bind CD4 and deglycosylated virus particles can infect cells, although at much reduced levels^{54;96;140;151;203}. However, carbohydrates of gp120 can significantly influence important functions and the structure gp120^{2;21;85;86;137}.

An important role of the carbohydrate moiety seems to be immunoprotection of $gp120^{167}$. Several ^{129;153}single N-linked glycans, and even also peripheral glycosylation, have been reported to influence the immune recognition of gp120 ^{9;21;30;69;177;178;148}(I, II).

O-linked glycans of gp120

The exterior envelope glycoproteins from several retroviruses, including HIV-1, have been found to be modified by O-glycosylation¹⁵⁸. The aberrant short chained O-glycosylation such as the Tn antigen which is abnormally expressed in number of cancers, have been found on the envelopes from HIV-1 and HIV- $2^{17;33;68;72;158;186}$. These O-linked neoantigens serve as broadly neutralisation epitopes and are common on both primary and laboratory adapted strains. The N-linked neo-antigens A₁ and Le^Y have also been identified as neutralising epitopes on HIV^{5;68;73}. Pre-existing antibody reactivities towards these neo-antigens has been suggested to be involved in rejection of the initial HIV infection¹⁴⁵.

In contrast to N-linked glycosylation, no exact consensus acceptor sequence has been identified for O-linked glycosylation, which may be explained by the multiple GalNAc transferases identified in the last decade^{70;71}. Initial O-linked glycosylation takes place in the cis-Golgi compartment after N-glycosylation, folding and oligomerisation of gp120. Therefore, acceptor sites must be exposed on the surface of oligomer gp120 to be accessible to GalNAc-transferases. Initial O-glycosylation is therefore dependent on both local conformation and overall tertiary/quaternary structure of the glycoprotein. The role of O-linked glycans on gp120 has so far not been identified. However, O-linked glycans have been proposed to alter the recognition by the neutralising antibodies generated in a primate host^{30;148}.

N-linked glycans of gp120

Individually, every N-linked glycan of gp120 is dispensable for infectivity⁹⁸ and multiple N-glycan deletions can be accommodated with only an impairment of infectivity or even without any apparent loss of viral functions^{43;69;76;77;108;166}. However, several functions are affected by single or multiple N-glycans; e.g.

binding to CD4 and the co-receptor^{12;20;75;147;43;45-47;85-87;110;113}(I). Recently, the conserved N-glycan in the V3-loop of a mutant strain of the NDK X4 isolate have been identified as a determining factor for CD4-dependence^{46;47} (Hazan, U., personal communication). N-linked glycan have in many cases been shown to modulate the structure of peptides and proteins (Review¹⁴³). Deletion of N-glycans of gp120 can modulate the conformation of gp120 without changing the overall structure ^{21;85}(I, II). Removal of a single N-glycan in the C2-region was found to confer CD4 independence. The authors proposed that this was caused by a structural displacement of the whole V1/V2-region⁸⁵.

Analysis of the N-linked glycans of gp120 has identified the presence of both high-mannose, hybrid, complex type glycans^{18;100;125;209}. More N-glycan subtypes than addition signals have been identified on gp120, which indicates a micro-heterogeneity in the structure of gp120¹²⁵. Peripheral glycan structures have been shown hide epitopes of gp120²¹ and the observed micro-heterogeneity may have both structural and antigenic implications. N-linked glycosylation is thought to be part of HIV's resistance mechanism in order to protect envelope proteins from attack by the host's immune system^{13;167;187}. Insertion of N-glycosylation sites has in several cases been identified as an escape mechanism of gp120 to shield underlying or distant epitopes against neutralising antibodies^{9;30;108;148;166;167;176-178}. Both O-linked and N-linked carbohydrate structures can be part of an antibody neutralisation epitope⁶⁸. Antibodies to blood group antigens have been found to interfere with viral replication^{5;68;73}. However, gp120 specific antibodies that recognise epitopes containing N-linked glycosylation is only rarely found in HIV infected individuals¹⁹⁵.

N-linked glycosylation of gp120 have also been reported to influence the selection of epitopes recognised by T-cells in mice¹⁸⁵. The reason for this is unknown, but the N-glycans could have altered the processing of the molecule, and hereby the subsequent peptide presentation, as seen for other proteins¹¹⁴. A recent DNA immunisation study showed that both the glycosylation and the conformation of the antigen might dictate the selection of T-helper (Th) cell epitopes¹⁹². All Th-epitopes induced by DNA immunisation were found to be located on the exposed and accessible surface of gp120 when visualised on the crystal structure¹⁹².

The glycosylation of gp120 has been shown to influence sensitivity to neutralising antibodies to the V3-loop and the CD4bs, but also to influence the binding to CD4 and the co-receptor^{110;65;69;108;177;178}(I). Deletion of the V1/V2-region of gp120 confer increased accessibility to neutralising antibodies, sCD4 and co-receptor^{28;84;168;205}. In spite of the multiple functions of the V1/V2 loop it is quite remarkable that viral particles deleted for V1/V2-deleted (Δ V1/V2-gp120) still are infectious^{28;205}. This could indicate that the most important function of the V1/V2-region may be to control the interaction with the host cell receptors and to modulate the immune recognition of gp120.

Immune recognition of HIV

The HIV infection induces specific immune responses in the host. After the initial HIV infection, the virus replicates to high levels before specific immune responses appear (see Figure 3). The appearance of HIV-specific CTL's coincides with a decline in viral load, whereas antibodies to env appears subsequently^{23;94}. The CTL response is therefore believed to control the initial HIV infection which is supported by CD8-depletion studies^{81;130;144;161;175}. The anti-env antibodies produced within the first year of infection are primarily directed against non-neutralising epitopes of gp120^{93;128;130}. Autologous neutralising antibodies are found approximately one year after infection whereas heterologous neutralising antibodies are found one year later¹²⁸. The reason for the slow maturation of the autologous and heterologous neutralising antibodies seem to recognise conformational epitopes around the CD4 binding site or epitopes induced after CD4 binding¹³¹.

The specific immune responses stimulate the generation of escape variants^{4;6;7;102;126;153}. Escape mutants are generated by single or multiple amino acid substitutions, that often affects the glycosylation sites of $gp120^{9;51;122;126;177;187}$. The persistence of HIV infection is believed to be caused by a constant generation of variants escaping the specific immune responses. Evolvement of virus isolates lacking some N-glycosylation signals, have been associated with prolonged virus propagation *in vitro* or progressed disease and immunosuppression *in vivo*¹⁰⁶. The variant virus isolates appear to be more

aggressive and to primarily utilising the CXCR4 co-receptor for entry^{9;106;182}. These viral characteristics are believed to evolve when the immunocomprimised host no longer can control the virus imunologically.

Antibodies to HIV can protect against infection. Several studies have reported protection of non-human primates against a virus challenge after passive transfer of monoclonal antibodies either alone or in combination with purified antibodies from HIV infected primates^{8;183}. These studies encourage the development of a potent gp120 immunogen for an antibody based HIV vaccine.

Methods

Cells and virus

Cells. The human CD4+ lymphocyte cell lines H9¹⁶², C8166¹⁷², MT-2 and MT-4^{74;154} were obtained through the AIDS Reagent Project, British Medical Council (MRC) and grown in complete growth medium with antibiotics (I, II, III, IV). The growth medium used for peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) was supplemented with IL-2 (III).

Virus. The HIV-1 LAI isolate pLAI.2 (formerly pBRU2)^{11;31;197} was subjected to site directed mutagenesis to delete consensus sites for N-linked glycans in the V1-loop (I, IV), V3-loop (II, IV) and potential O-linked glycosylation sites in the V3-loop (II). A 2.7 kb BamHI-SaII fragment of pLAI.2 containing most of gp160, was inserted into pUC18 for site directed mutagenesis using mutagenised oligonucleotides. All mutants sequences were verified by DNA sequencing.

Viral stocks were made by transfection of H9 cells with full-length plasmid DNA using a modified DEAE-Dextran transfection procedure⁷⁸. Culture supernatant was harvested after 2-4 weeks of culture, 0.45 μ m filtered, aliquoted and stored at -70°C until use. All clonal viral stocks were verified by DNA sequencing as above (I, II, IV). Viral stocks from HIV infected individuals were obtained by cocultivation of OKT4 selected CD4+ cells from patients and healthy donors¹⁸⁰(III).

Virus titration was done as an end-point titration in MT-4 cells or pooled PBMC using quadruplicate or octaplicate cultures and 5-fold viral dilution series. Cell Culture Infective Dose 50% (CCID₅₀) was calculated essentially as described by Reed & Muench¹⁶⁵(I, II, III, IV).

Neutralisation assay. Virus supernatant (25 to 100 CCID_{50}) and a dilution series of neutralising agent was allowed to interact for 1 hour at RT before addition of permissive MT-4 cells for two hours or PBMC for 16 hours. Unbound virus was removed by extensive wash and cells were resuspended in

appropriate growth medium and quadruplicate cultures were cultured for 4 days (MT-4) or 7 days (PBMC) in a 96-well plate (I, II, III).

Virus phenotype was determined from the ability to form syncytia in the isolation culture of CD4+ cells, in the co-culture for virus-propagation or in co-culture with MT-2 cells¹⁸⁰(III).

CCR5 genotype determinations were done with PCR on genomic extracted DNA using primers spanning the potential 32-bp deletion in the CCR5 gene. The resulting PCR fragments were small in size for easy visual identification of size differences of amplified DNA fragments after agarose gel electrophoresis (III). PCR amplification of the wild type CCR5 gene gave a fragment size of 137 bp.

ELISA

HIV Ag ELISA used purified antibodies from HIV infected individuals (HIV Ig) as a capture antibody¹⁴². HIV antigens were detected using biotinylated- HIV Ig followed by HPR conjugated avidin. Colorimetric development from the enzymatic conversion of *o*-phenylenediamine (OPD) was measured at 490 nm/630 nm (I, II, III, IV).

gp120 ELISA used the anti-C5-antibody, D7324 (IV), or the anti-V3-antibody, NEA-9205 (II, III) as capture antibody^{132;135}. Serum from HIV infected individuals (III), biotinylated HIV Ig (IV) or the anti-V3-antibody NEA-9205 (II, III) were sources of detection antibodies. Alkaline phosphatase-conjugated secondary antibodies were used with the AMPAK amplification kit (DAKO) and measured at 450 nm/630 nm essentially as described¹²³ (II, III). HPR conjugated avidin and OPD was used with the biotinylated HIV Ig (IV).

Radio immunoprecipitation assay RIPA

³H-GlcNAc labelled gp120 were incubated with mouse anti-V3 antibody NEA9205 (I, II) or the anti-Tn antibody 83D4 (II), and pelleted with a antimouse-Ig coupled to proteinA-Sepharose and subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gelelectrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) for visualisation after exposure to film (I, II).

Deglycosylation assay

Typing of N-glycans (IV) was done with a modified RIPA method; ³⁵Scysteine/methionine labelled gp120 was caught onto the bottom of a microwell using the anti-V3-antibody NEA-9205 as capture antibody, and subjected to enzymatic degradation using either Endoglycosidase H or N-glycanase/Nglycosidase F. Complexes were solubilised by boiling with SDS and DTT for 30 min., and subjected to SDS-PAGE for visualisation of protein mobility.

Protection of gp120 deglycosylation (IV) was determined with a modified RIPA deglycosylation procedure; ³H-GlcNAc labelled gp120 was caught onto the bottom of a microwell using either the anti-V3-antibody NEA-9205 or the anti-C5 antibody, D7324 as capture antibodies. Wells were preincubated with sCD4, NEA9205, D7324, HIV Ig, or serum from HIV infected individuals, before subjection to N-glycosidase F degradation. Soluble fractions were removed from microwells and measured for the content of radioactivity. Undigested glycans on gp120 still bound onto the microwell were solubilised by boiling with SDS and DTT for 30 min., and measured for the content of radioactivity by liquid scintillation. The two measurements of each well were used to calculate the degree of inhibition of deglycosylation of gp120.



Figure Fejl! Ukendt argument for parameter.. A schematic representation of the deglycosylation assay for protection of gp120. N-glycanase digestion of N-glycans releases them into the reaction buffer. Left: Unproteced gp120 caught onto the microwell with an antibody. Right: Partially antibody protected gp120 caught onto the microwell by an antibody (IV)

Summary of results

N-glycans and modulation of antibody sensitivity

Glycosylation of gp120 is necessary to attain functional conformation¹³⁸. In addition to shielding of peptide stretches around N-linked glycans^{9;176} the glycosylation of gp120 could also influence the three-dimensional conformation of the molecule, and thus influence the presentation and accessibility of epitopes in a more indirect and spatially discontinuous manner^{21;95}.

N-glycosylation mutants of gp120 lacking glycosylation sites in the V1-loop, N116Q, (I) or in the V3-loop, A308 (II) were made. Neither of the mutants displayed apparent phenotypic abnormalities and both of the N-glycosylation signals in the V1-loop and V3-loop were shown to be utilised, as identified by an increased electrophoretic mobility of mutant gp120 (I, II). In addition, using a discriminative deglycosylation assay for either high-mannose or complex type N-glycans, both of these N-glycans was found to be of the complex type (IV). However, the neutralisation sensitivity of these N-glycan mutants to anti-V3 antibodies was very different. The A308 mutant were more than 100 times more sensitive to neutralisation by the anti-V3 antibody NEA9205 than the wild type, BRU (II). This topic is contained in the dissertation of Britt Losman¹⁰⁷. Compared to the wild type, the V1-glycan deletion mutant N116Q was found to be three-fold more resistant to neutralisation by the anti-V3-antibody NEA9205. Additionally, the N116Q mutant was also three-fold more resistant to neutralisation by sCD4, but equal or more sensitive neutralisation by the conformation dependent antibody, 2G12 (I). These results indicated that Nglycans of gp120 could influence the sensitivity to neutralising antibodies. Further, these results indicated that the N-glycan in the V1-loop influenced the conformation of gp120, without changing the overall integrity of the molecule. These results are consistent with the proposed structure of $gp120^{96;203}$.

Deletion of potential O-glycans in the V3-loop

Truncated O-linked oligosaccharides constitute broadly neutralising epitopes on $gp120^{68;72}$. These epitopes could be situated in the V3-loop³³, but their exact locations on gp120 remain unknown.

Several mutant HIV-1 infectious clones where some or all potential signals for O-linked glycosylation at Serine or Threonines residues in the V3-loop of HIV-1 gp120 were deleted by Alanine substitution (Figure 7). None of the mutants displayed any apparent phenotypic abnormalities (II). These results indicated that the Alanine substitutions in the V3-loop, including the resulting N-glycan deletion, did not interfere dramatically with viral replication in cell culture (II). Mutant clones were compared with the wild type virus for the sensitivity to neutralisation with antibodies specific for the O-linked oligosaccharides Tn or sialosyl-Tn. If for instance, a Tn epitope was located on one of these sites, deletion of the site would remove a neutralisation epitope and render the virus more resistant to the neutralising by Tn antibody. However, none of the mutants with deletions of O-glycosylation signals in the V3 loop displayed any increased resistance to anti-Tn or anti-sialosyl-Tn antibodies (II). These results indicated that the broadly specific O-linked glycan neutralisation epitopes are located outside the V3 loop of gp120.



oligosaccharide at N306 is also indicated. From (II).

Accessibility to N-glycans of gp120

The intermolecular interactions between antibodies, epitopes and N-linked glycans are complex and poorly understood¹⁴⁵. Elimination of glycosylation sites prior to antibody binding may not reveal the whole truth and analysis of accessibility of N-linked glycans after binding of ligands to gp120, may disclose important features of N-linked glycan as they appear in the folded and native molecule. We had developed a deglycosylation assay for characterisation of N-glycans types (IV) and developed this assay further to investigate induced changes in the orientation dependent susceptibility of N-linked glycans of gp120 to enzymatic degradation after binding of gp120 ligands (IV).

We achieved orientation-specific exposition of gp120 in ELISA microplates by catching gp120 from ³H-GlcNAc labelled cultures either by D7324 antibody, binding to the C5 domain, or NEA-9205 antibody, binding to the V3 region of gp120⁴⁸. It was unexpected that the heterologous antibody, NEA-9205 was not able to protect gp120 caught by D7324 and vice versa (IV). This demonstrated that antibody binding to accessible gp120 epitopes per se was not sufficient to block adjacent glycans from N-glycanase action. In contrast, sCD4 was able to protect gp120 caught by the anti-C5 antibody from N-glycanase action (IV). This suggested that the CD4-binding site is surrounded by multiple vicinal N-linked glycans. However, pooled HIV IgG was able to better protect gp120 from N-glycanase action when gp120 was caught by the anti-V3-antibody than with the anti-C5 antibody (IV). These results demonstrate that N-linked glycans are situated in the vicinity of epitopes recognised by IgG from HIV infected individuals but the deglycosylation pattern may suggest that these antibodies mainly bind to other faces of gp120 than the CD4-binding one.

The specificity of the antibodies produced in vivo during the natural infection may influence the progression of the disease. In a small pilot study we wanted to explore the orientation dependent susceptibility of gp120 N-linked glycans to enzymatic degradation after binding of sera from HIV infected individuals displaying SPI or RPI (III, IV). Three sera from HIV infected individuals displaying SPI and two sera from individuals with RPI were found to be able to protect gp120 from N-glycanase action (IV). All five HIV+ sera protected gp120 caught with the anti-V3 equally or better than gp120 caught with anti-C5 antibody (IV). This indicated that N-linked glycans are situated in the vicinity of epitopes recognised by sera from HIV infected individuals with SPI and RPI. No difference between the sera from individuals with slow or rapid progression infection could be discerned here.

Factors influencing disease progression.

The duration of the asymptomatic phase in untreated HIV infection varies considerably among infected individuals and an understanding of the underlying reasons for this variation is likely to provide insights into mechanisms to control of the disease. We approached this by comparing consecutive pairs of sera and HIV-1 isolates from HIV-infected individuals displaying a slow progressing infection (SPI) with individuals displaying a rapid progressing infection (RPI).

We found that neutralising titers of consecutive serum samples against autologous virus isolates were generally higher in persons with SPI than in persons with RPI (III). However, the presence of autologous neutralising activity was not a requirement for SPI. This may indicate a contribution of the cellular immune system in controlling the infection¹³⁶.

Virus phenotype was determined both by the ability to induce syncytia in the isolation culture of CD4+ primary cells and by the ability to establish production infection of MT2 cells. We found that 7 of 10 SPI were infected with NSI virus compared to the 4 of 10 in the RPI group (III). In addition, we analysed the chemokine receptor CCR5 gene for the common 32-bp deletion reported to influence viral replication^{40;52;173}. The heterozygous individuals were equally distributed in the groups of SPI and RPI (4 of 10), however, a close correlation between presence of the deleted allele, virus phenotype (NSI/SI) and SPI/RPI status was observed (III). Thus, all heterozygous individuals with SPI were infected with NSI virus (4 of 4). In contrast, all heterozygous individuals with RPI were infected with SI virus (4 of 4). This difference is statistically significant (p=0.029, Fisher exact test). Thus, in this study, heterozygosity for the deleted CCR5 allele in conjunction with infection with a NSI isolate was predictive for SPI (III).

General discussion

The HIV-1 glycoprotein gp120 is probably the most glycosylated viral protein. Multiple functions are associated with these carbohydrates, but one prominent task from the viral point of view, is to block access for potential neutralising antibodies to otherwise hidden epitopes at the glycoprotein surface. Available data suggest HIV-1 has recruited N-linked glycans for this purpose. On the other hand, the host cell may use carbohydrate units at the viral surface for counteraction of the viral N-linked glycan-dependent escape from neutralising antibodies. This is possible because the strength of the viral strategy to use host cell-specific, i.e. "self" carbohydrate sequences for shielding in a sense also is a weakness, because of the maintained host control of the glycosylation process. Thus, the initiation of the viral transcription program may alter the expression of different host glycosyl-transferase genes, resulting in altered or aberrant glycosylation of host cell as well as viral proteins. These altered carbohydrates may be considered as "non-self" and, therefore, such altered carbohydrate determinants of the viral glycoprotein may be attacked by pre-existing, circulating, and now, neutralising antibodies to various carbohydrate antigens. Here, both these aspects of carbohydrates of viral glycoproteins and antibody neutralisation of HIV-1 are discussed.

The finding that elimination of an N-linked glycan of the V3 region of gp120 resulted in a mutant virus that was more than two orders of magnitude more susceptible to neutralisation by anti-V3 antibodies (II) supported the notion that large N-linked glycans are utilised in a viral strategy to escape potential neutralising antibodies^{30;56;108;179}. This was described in the dissertation by Britt Losman¹⁰⁷. Recent work demonstrates that also glycans situated more distally to the V3 region in the primary protein structure may be engaged in shielding of the V3 region. Thus, Losman and co-workers found that a mutant HIV-1 lacking three N-linked glycans of the V1 region, also was more sensitive to anti-V3 antibodies than wild type virus, whereas glycans of the C2 region seemed to be inert in this context¹⁰⁸. This probably reflects that the V1 region is adjacent to V3 in the three-dimensional conformation of the gp120 oligomer. However, the

data of the present study (I) showed, that elimination of only one of the three Nlinked glycans of the V1 region resulted in a slightly increased resistance to neutralisation by antibodies to V3, which contrast to the findings described above for the mutant virus lacking all 3 glycans. Altogether, these data would suggest that only one or both of the two N-linked glycans N-terminal or Cterminal to the ¹¹⁶N-glycan analysed (position 143c according to the HXB2 isolate⁸⁸) are responsible for shielding of the V3 region. On the other hand it has been shown that deletion of the entire V1-loop did not increase the sensitivity of e.g. V3-loop antibodies^{28;205;206}. However, deletion of a whole loop may have other conformational consequences than shielding of the V3-loop.

The great risk, from the viral point of view, using host cell glycans for shielding of B cell epitopes is that the host cell glycosylation machinery may be disturbed by the prominent alteration of host cell metabolism during viral replication. In particular, the implementation of the viral transcriptional program may affect the balance of the often very transiently expressed glycosyl transferases, resulting in carbohydrate neoantigens. Such changes have been described for HIV-infected cells and include expression of histo-blood group substances in normally "silent" T cells, and short O-glycan chains such as Tn and sialosyl-Tn^{68;72}. A variety of HIV laboratory strains and patient isolates have been shown to expose these antigens from surface-associated gp120 and these virus strains become readily neutralised by suitable anti-carbohydrate antibodies^{68;72}. It is reasonable to assume that naturally occurring antibodies to such unintentional viral carbohydrate antigens, may help to restrict the spread of HIV-1 from e.g. Apositive individuals to B- and 0-positive individuals^{5;68}. As the V3-loop constitutes a major neutralisation target, we investigated whether genetic elimination of potential signals in this region could reduce the viral sensitivity to antibodies to O-glycans. However, we found that none of the four potential Oglycosylation sites in the V3-loop (Threonine^{301,308,324} and Serine³¹¹) harboured any detectable O-linked oligosaccharide neutralisation target (II). These data suggest that the O-linked glycans, that constitute targets for neutralising antibodies may be situated outside the V3-loop or distributed randomly at Serines and Threonines located on the surface of gp120. Indeed, the results obtained from the N-glycanase protection assay blocking with antibodies to V3

epitopes demonstrated that gp120 contains relatively large patches free from N-linked glycans (IV), which could harbour such O-linked glycans.

The duration of the asymptomatic phase in untreated HIV infection varies considerably among infected individuals and an understanding of the underlying reasons for this variation is likely to provide insights into the pathogenic processes involved in HIV-1 infection and control of the disease. We approached this by studying parameters in HIV-infected individuals who displayed a rapid progressing infection (RPI) and compared them with individuals who displayed a slow progressing infection (SPI). However, this approach is limited by being a comparative study where experimentation is not possible. We found that titers of consecutive serum samples against autologous virus isolates were generally higher in persons with SPI than persons with RPI (III). These results are in agreement with others^{29;150;180}. The finding that the presence of autologous neutralising activity was not a requirement for SPI is intriguing. In these HIV infected individuals, factors other than neutralising antibodies must be decisive for the SPI. It is noteworthy that a persistent viral replication can occur for an extended period without the significant generation of autologous neutralising antibodies. The lack of induction of neutralising antibodies may be caused by an immunosuppressed state (for RPI) or insufficiently levels of antigen (for SPI)^{152;181}. However, this may indicate a role for cytotoxic T-cells in the control of disease¹³⁶.

Glycosylation of gp120 influences the virus phenotype and the interaction with the co-receptor^{106;182}. The two important factors, addressed in the present study (III) are likely to have influence on the rate of disease^{52;173;182}. Syncytium inducing virus phenotypes appear to be more virulent and emerge late in the course of disease¹⁸². The mutant allele containing a 32 bp deletion in the CCR5 gene, found in up to 22% of Northern Caucasian population, have been associated with longer AIDS-free survival^{52;173}. But, neither phenotype characteristics nor the 32 bp deletion in the CCR5 gene were alone predictive for SPI, as they were represented in both groups (III). The overrepresentation of SI in the RPI group is consistent with the progressed stage of disease seen these individuals¹⁸². However, NSI phenotype in conjunction with the presence of the 32-bp deletion in the CCR5 gene was predictive for SPI (III). These findings are

consistent with the notion that NSI and SI viruses utilises the CCR5 and the CXCR4 co-receptors, respectively¹⁴, and in accordance with the observation by Michael et al.¹²⁴. The observed correlation between SPI and NSI phenotype in conjunction with heterozygosity for the 32 bp deletion in the CCR5 gene did not include all the individuals displaying SPI. It is reasonable to believe that the underlying reasons for slowly progressing disease of course may be multi-factorial, and other immunological, virological or host factors are likely to be responsible for the slow progression of disease^{66;111;150;156;171}.

The HIV-1 gp120 is extraordinary highly glycosylated⁶⁷ and contains more than 20 sites for N-linked glycosylation, most of which are occupied by any of the two classes of N-linked glycans, complex type on one hand and high mannose or hybrid glycans on the other^{18;100;209}. The most important role of these N-glycans seems to be to participate in HIV-1 immune escape mechanisms, by virtue of the capacity of the large N-linked glycans to block access to adjacent peptide epitopes and functional regions^{9;65;69;85;146;177}. The glycans of all the glycosylation sites gp120 have been classified as either high mannose or complex type¹⁰⁰. However, the viral isolate LAI contains one glycosylation site not present in strain BH10 analysed by Leonard et al.¹⁰⁰. Using our newly developed deglycosylation assay we found that the last uncharacterised N-linked glycan in the V1-loop of the HIV-1 prototype strain LAI in fact is of the complex type which is similar as for the other glycosylation sites of this region¹⁰⁰ (IV). The exposed variable loops of gp120 contains significant sequence variation in response to immune reactivities^{7;28;56;95;205}. In addition, Nglycans of the complex type are primarily found in exposed regions of gp120^{100;209}. Our characterisation of the N-linked glycan in the V1-loop was based on deletion of the N-glycan in question, which could influence the processing of other N-linked glycans of the molecule. Still, we believe that exposition of the V1-loop to glycanases and glycosidases in the ER and Golgi apparatus is likely to confer the complex nature of this N-glycan.

The interplay between antibodies, epitopes, and N-linked glycans in immune escape mechanisms is complex¹⁴⁵, and the approach of elimination of glycosylation sites prior to antibody binding may not reveal the whole truth.

Thus, analysing the accessibility of N-linked glycans after binding of critical monoclonal antibodies or other important ligands to gp120 may disclose important features of N-linked glycan interference with the presentation of gp120, e.g. to estimate the proportion of physically accessible glycans in the vicinity of important epitopes such as they appear in the folded, native molecule.

We further developed the in-well deglycosylation assay to investigate induced changes in the orientation dependent susceptibility of N-linked glycans of gp120 to enzymatic degradation after binding of monoclonal antibodies (IV). It is interesting that the anti-V3 MAb could not protect gp120 from N-glycanase action and reflects probably that there are too few glycans in the vicinity of the V3 region on monomer gp120 to induce a detectable protection. This is noteworthy considering that gp120 contains more than 20 large N-linked glycans¹⁰⁰ and that the IgG molecule is even more spatious than gp120. Thus, in spite of the large proportion of glycans on gp120, there must be relatively large patches on monomer gp120 not occupied by carbohydrates^{96;202;203}.

In contrast, the high degree of protection of gp120 caught by an anti-C5 antibody from N-glycanase action by incubation with sCD4, suggested that the CD4-binding site is surrounded by multiple vicinal N-linked glycans. The presence of bulky glycans surrounding the CD4 binding domain could protect the CD4 binding site from antibody recognition. This is in agreement with other reports that demonstrate that the actual CD4 binding site differs from epitopes recognised by CD4 blocking antibodies and consistent with the deduced crystal structure of gp120^{96;133;134;203}.

Protection of gp120 from N-glycanase action was also observed when IgG antibodies from pooled HIV infected individuals were analysed (IV). However, the most pronounced protection was observed for gp120 caught with the anti-V3 antibody and not with the anti-C5 antibody as seen for sCD4-induced protection. The results demonstrate that N-linked glycans are situated in the vicinity of epitopes recognised by IgG from HIV infected individuals. The deglycosylation pattern suggests that these antibodies mainly bind to other faces of gp120 than the CD4-binding one, which may reflect a viral strategy to escape neutralisation. The specificity of the antibodies produced in vivo during the natural infection has been intensively investigated. Thus, gp120 antibodies produced *in vivo*, are

at least partly, directed to non-neutralising epitopes not present on the oligomer structure, whereas the majority of the broadly neutralising antibodies are directed against the CD4 binding site^{24;93;130;131}. However, the fraction of antibodies recognising non-neutralising epitopes present on monomeric gp120, but not oligomeric gp120, still remains unknown, but may constitute as much as half of the circulating anti-gp120 antibodies²⁴. Shedded monomer gp120 from infected cells or virions has been proposed to act as a decoy antigen and to stimulate the production of antibodies against non-neutralising epitopes harmless for the virus^{24;152}. The results with HIV Ig presented here (IV) may partly reflect this phenomenon.

We explored possible induced changes in the orientation dependent susceptibility of gp120 N-linked glycans to enzymatic degradation after binding of sera from HIV infected individuals displaying SPI or RPI in a small pilot study (IV). Sera from HIV infected individuals displaying SPI (three sera) or RPI (two sera) were tested and found to protect gp120 from N-glycanase action to various extents. All five HIV+ sera protected gp120 caught with the anti-V3 equally or better than gp120 caught with anti-C5 antibody, confirming that N-linked glycans also are situated in the vicinity of epitopes recognised by sera from HIV infected individuals with SPI and RPI. However, the orientation of gp120 appeared to have little influence on the degree of protection seen for all the HIV+ sera. No difference between the sera from individuals with slow or rapid progression infection could be discerned here.

It has become increasingly clear that development of an HIV vaccine should aim at inducing high-affinity neutralising antibodies capable of neutralising several isolates. The established protection of HIV infection after passive transfer of anti-gp120 antibodies to a non-human primate was a hallmark for the development of an antibody based HIV vaccine^{116;183}. The induction of these potent anti-gp120 neutralising antibodies seems, however, to be a rare event in humans¹⁹⁵, and current vaccine approaches aim at inducing humoral as well as cellular immune responses¹⁶¹. An exiting approach is generation of an immunogen based on stabilised oligomeric structures of gp120^{95;97;174;202;207;208}, which is likely to induce both humoral and cellular immunity. Immunisation with gp120 carrying specific N-glycan deletions, is likely to unshield epitopes of gp120 and to facilitate presentation of a more antigenic structure for the stimulation of high-affinity gp120 antibodies and potent HIV specific T-cells^{22;136;167;176;185}. Protection from host defences may prove to be the true role of the extensive glycosylation of HIV-1 gp120. One conclusion of the present work is therefore that an optimal vaccine, with the ability to induce neutralising antibodies and not only cell mediated immunity, must present stable oligomeric gp41/gp120 units, where strategical epitope-masking N-linked glycans are eliminated, but where the remaining N-glycans resemble the authentic gp120 glycosylation.

Acknowledgments

I would like acknowledge:

Sigvard Olofsson, for supervision, excellent scientific insight and his great combination of a serious scientist and a very nice personality.

John-Erik Stig Hansen, my mentor in aspects of virology, gene therapy and science in general. I hope our collaborative work will never end.

Jens Ole Nielsen, head of the Department of Infectious Diseases, H:S Hvidovre Hospital, for his great generosity and for providing me the opportunity to extend my scientific work with this dissertation.

Örjan Strannegård, former head of the Department of Virology, for letting me work here and for making me feel truly welcome.

Anna-Louise Sørensen, for her excellent technical assistance and her optimistic and happy mood.

Anders Bolmstedt, for fruitful discussions on HIV and nature as such, great collaborative work and hospitality.

Kristian Schønning, his great enthusiasm in scientific work, excellent scientific opinions and gut-feelings and for a long companionship.

Britt Losman, for her great effort with generating numerous mutant HIV viruses, and for her friendly and honest personality.

Gaby Helbok, for her invaluable help with all the bureaucratic aspects of this dissertation (data not shown).

Pia Magrét Mørch, for her loyalty and her warm and friendly attitude.

All the other nice employees (both former and present) at the Department of Infectious Diseases 144, H:S Hvidovre Hospital, Denmark and Department of Clinical Virology, University of Göteborg, Sweden.

Last, but not least, Trine, Emma and Jacob for their support and love.

The work was supported by grants from the John and Birthe Meyer Foundation.

- 40 -

References

- Akerblom, L., J. Hinkula, P. A. Broliden, B. Makitalo, T. Fridberger, J. Rosen, M. Villacres-Eriksson, B. Morein, and B. Wahren. 1990. Neutralizing cross-reactive and non-neutralizing monoclonal antibodies to HIV-1 gp120. AIDS 4:953-960.
- 2. Alexander, S. and J. H. Elder. 1984. Carbohydrate dramatically influences immune reactivity of antisera to viral glycoprotein antigens. Science 226:1328-1330.
- Allan, J. S., J. E. Coligan, F. Barin, M. F. McLane, J. G. Sodroski, C. A. Rosen, W. A. Haseltine, T. H. Lee, and M. Essex. 1985. Major glycoprotein antigens that induce antibodies in AIDS patients are encoded by HTLV-III. Science 228:1091-1094.
- Arendrup, M., L. Akerblom, P. M. Heegaard, J. O. Nielsen, and J. E. Hansen. 1995. The HIV-1 V3 domain on field isolates: participation in generation of escape virus in vivo and accessibility to neutralizing antibodies. Arch. Virol. 140:655-670.
- Arendrup, M., J. E. Hansen, H. Clausen, C. Nielsen, L. R. Mathiesen, and J. O. Nielsen. 1991. Antibody to histo-blood group A antigen neutralizes HIV produced by lymphocytes from blood group A donors but not from blood group B or O donors. AIDS 5:441-444.
- Arendrup, M., C. Nielsen, J. E. Hansen, C. Pedersen, L. Mathiesen, and J. O. Nielsen. 1992. Autologous HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies: emergence of neutralization- resistant escape virus and subsequent development of escape virus neutralizing antibodies. J Acquir. Immune. Defic. Syndr. 5:303-307.
- Arendrup, M., A. Sonnerborg, B. Svennerholm, L. Akerblom, C. Nielsen, H. Clausen, S. Olofsson, J. O. Nielsen, and J. E. Hansen. 1993. Neutralizing antibody response during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection: type and group specificity and viral escape. J Gen. Virol. 74 (Pt 5):855-863.
- Baba, T. W., V. Liska, R. Hofmann-Lehmann, J. Vlasak, W. Xu, S. Ayehunie, L. A. Cavacini, M. R. Posner, H. Katinger, G. Stiegler, B. J. Bernacky, T. A. Rizvi, R. Schmidt, L. R. Hill, M. E. Keeling, Y. Lu, J. E. Wright, T. C. Chou, and R. M. Ruprecht. 2000. Human neutralizing monoclonal antibodies of the IgG1 subtype protect against mucosal simian-human immunodeficiency virus infection. Nat. Med. 6:200-206.
- Back, N. K., L. Smit, J. J. De Jong, W. Keulen, M. Schutten, J. Goudsmit, and M. Tersmette. 1994. An N-glycan within the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 V3 loop affects virus neutralization. Virology 199:431-438.
- Baltimore, D. 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of RNA tumour viruses. Nature 226:1209-1211.
- Barre-Sinoussi, F., J. C. Chermann, F. Rey, M. T. Nugeyre, S. Chamaret, J. Gruest, C. Dauguet, C. Axler-Blin, F. Vezinet-Brun, C. Rouzioux, W. Rozenbaum, and L. Montagnier. 1983. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:868-871.

- Benjouad, A., T. Babas, L. Montagnier, and E. Bahraoui. 1993. N-linked oligosaccharides of simian immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoproteins are dispensable for the interaction with the CD4 receptor. Biochem. Biophys. Res Commun. 190:311-319.
- Benjouad, A., J. C. Gluckman, H. Rochat, L. Montagnier, and E. Bahraoui. 1992. Influence of carbohydrate moieties on the immunogenicity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 recombinant gp160. J. Virol. 66:2473-2483.
- Berger, E. A., R. W. Doms, E. M. Fenyo, B. T. Korber, D. R. Littman, J. P. Moore, Q. J. Sattentau, H. Schuitemaker, J. Sodroski, and R. A. Weiss. 1998. A new classification for HIV-1. Nature 391:240.
- Berger, E. A., P. M. Murphy, and J. M. Farber. 1999. Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 17:657-700.
- 16. Bernhard, W. 1960. The detection and study of tumor viruses with electron microscope. Cancer Res. 20:714-727.
- Bernstein, H. B., S. P. Tucker, E. Hunter, J. S. Schutzbach, and R. W. Compans. 1994. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein is modified by Olinked oligosaccharides. J. Virol. 68:463-468.
- Biller, M., A. Bolmstedt, A. Hemming, and S. Olofsson. 1998. Simplified procedure for fractionation and structural characterisation of complex mixtures of N-linked glycans, released from HIV-1 gp120 and other highly glycosylated viral proteins. J Virol. Meth. 76:87-100.
- Binley, J. M., R. Wyatt, E. Desjardins, P. D. Kwong, W. Hendrickson, J. P. Moore, and J. Sodroski. 1998. Analysis of the interaction of antibodies with a conserved enzymatically deglycosylated core of the HIV type 1 envelope glycoprotein 120. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 14:191-198.
- Bolmstedt, A., A. Hemming, P. Flodby, P. Berntsson, B. Travis, J. P. Lin, J. Ledbetter, T. Tsu, H. Wigzell, and S. L. Hu. 1991. Effects of mutations in glycosylation sites and disulphide bonds on processing, CD4-binding and fusion activity of human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoproteins. J. Gen. Virol. 72 (Pt 6):1269-1277.
- Bolmstedt, A., S. Olofsson, E. Sjogren-Jansson, S. Jeansson, I. Sjoblom, L. Akerblom, J. E. Hansen, and S. L. Hu. 1992. Carbohydrate determinant NeuAc-Gal beta (1-4) of N-linked glycans modulates the antigenic activity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein gp120. J. Gen. Virol. 73 (Pt 12):3099-3105.
- Bolmstedt, A., S. Sjolander, J. E. Hansen, L. Akerblom, A. Hemming, S. L. Hu, B. Morein, and S. Olofsson. 1996. Influence of N-linked glycans in V4-V5 region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein gp160 on induction of a virusneutralizing humoral response. J Acquir. Immune. Defic. Syndr. Hum Retrovirol. 12:213-220.

- Borrow, P., H. Lewicki, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and M. B. Oldstone. 1994. Virusspecific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol. 68:6103-6110.
- Broder, C. C., P. L. Earl, D. Long, S. T. Abedon, B. Moss, and R. W. Doms. 1994. Antigenic implications of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope quaternary structure: oligomer-specific and -sensitive monoclonal antibodies. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 91:11699-11703.
- Browning, J., J. W. Horner, M. Pettoello-Mantovani, C. Raker, S. Yurasov, R. A. DePinho, and H. Goldstein. 1997. Mice transgenic for human CD4 and CCR5 are susceptible to HIV infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 94:14637-14641.
- 26. Burton, D. R. and P. W. Parren. 2000. Vaccines and the induction of functional antibodies: time to look beyond the molecules of natural infection? Nat. Med. 6:123-125.
- 27. Cann, A. J. and J. Karn. 1989. Molecular biology of HIV: new insights into the virus life-cycle. AIDS 3 Suppl 1:S19-S34.
- Cao, J., N. Sullivan, E. Desjardin, C. Parolin, J. Robinson, R. Wyatt, and J. Sodroski. 1997. Replication and neutralization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 lacking the V1 and V2 variable loops of the gp120 envelope glycoprotein. J Virol. 71:9808-9812.
- Cao, Y., L. Qin, L. Zhang, J. Safrit, and D. D. Ho. 1995. Virologic and immunologic characterization of long-term survivors of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. N. Engl. J Med. 332:201-208.
- Chackerian, B., L. M. Rudensey, and J. Overbaugh. 1997. Specific N-linked and Olinked glycosylation modifications in the envelope V1 domain of simian immunodeficiency virus variants that evolve in the host alter recognition by neutralizing antibodies. J Virol. 71:7719-7727.
- 31. Chang, S. Y., B. H. Bowman, J. B. Weiss, R. E. Garcia, and T. J. White. 1993. The origin of HIV-1 isolate HTLV-IIIB. Nature 363:466-469.
- 32. Chitnis, A., D. Rawls, and J. Moore . 2000. Origin of HIV type 1 in colonial French Equatorial Africa? AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 16:5-8.
- 33. Clausen, H., T. Sørensen, T. White, H. H. Wandall, and J. E. Hansen. 1994. Simple mucin O-glycans of HIV: Enzymatic prediction of glycosylation sites for vaccine construction, p. 297-310. *In* K. Bock and H. Clausen (eds.), Complex carbohydrates in drug research. Alfred Benzon Symposium 36. Munksgaard, Copenhagen.
- Clavel, F., D. Guetard, F. Brun-Vezinet, S. Chamaret, M. A. Rey, M. O. Santos-Ferreira, A. G. Laurent, C. Dauguet, C. Katlama, C. Rouzioux, and 1986. Isolation of a new human retrovirus from West African patients with AIDS. Science 233:343-346.

- Cocchi, F., A. L. DeVico, A. Garzino-Demo, S. K. Arya, R. C. Gallo, and P. Lusso. 1995. Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta as the major HIVsuppressive factors produced by CD8+ T cells. Science 270:1811-1815.
- 36. Connor, E. M., R. S. Sperling, R. Gelber, P. Kiselev, G. Scott, M. J. O'Sullivan, R. VanDyke, M. Bey, W. Shearer, R. L. Jacobson, and . 1994. Reduction of maternalinfant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with zidovudine treatment. Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group Protocol 076 Study Group. N. Engl. J Med. 331:1173-1180.
- 37. Cullen, B. R. 1986. Trans-activation of human immunodeficiency virus occurs via a bimodal mechanism. Cell 46:973-982.
- 38. Cullen, B. R. 1991. Regulation of HIV-1 gene expression. FASEB J 5:2361-2368.
- Dalgleish, A. G., P. C. Beverley, P. R. Clapham, D. H. Crawford, M. F. Greaves, and R. A. Weiss. 1984. The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. Nature 312:763-767.
- 40. Dean, M., M. Carrington, C. Winkler, G. A. Huttley, M. W. Smith, R. Allikmets, J. J. Goedert, S. P. Buchbinder, E. Vittinghoff, E. Gomperts, S. Donfield, D. Vlahov, R. Kaslow, A. Saah, C. Rinaldo, R. Detels, and S. J. O'Brien. 1996. Genetic restriction of HIV-1 infection and progression to AIDS by a deletion allele of the CKR5 structural gene. Hemophilia Growth and Development Study, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study, San Francisco City Cohort, ALIVE Study. Science 273:1856-1862.
- Deng, H., R. Liu, W. Ellmeier, S. Choe, D. Unutmaz, M. Burkhart, P. Di Marzio, S. Marmon, R. E. Sutton, C. M. Hill, C. B. Davis, S. C. Peiper, T. J. Schall, D. R. Littman, and N. R. Landau. 1996. Identification of a major co-receptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. Nature 381:661-666.
- Desai, S. M., V. S. Kalyanaraman, J. M. Casey, A. Srinivasan, P. R. Andersen, and S. G. Devare. 1986. Molecular cloning and primary nucleotide sequence analysis of a distinct human immunodeficiency virus isolate reveal significant divergence in its genomic sequences. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 83:8380-8384.
- Dirckx, L., D. Lindemann, R. Ette, C. Manzoni, D. Moritz, and J. Mous. 1990. Mutation of conserved N-glycosylation sites around the CD4-binding site of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 GP120 affects viral infectivity. Virus Res. 18:9-20.
- 44. Dragic, T., V. Litwin, G. P. Allaway, S. R. Martin, Y. Huang, K. A. Nagashima, C. Cayanan, P. J. Maddon, R. A. Koup, J. P. Moore, and W. A. Paxton. 1996. HIV-1 entry into CD4+ cells is mediated by the chemokine receptor CC- CKR-5. Nature 381:667-673.
- 45. Dumonceaux, J., C. Chanel, S. Valente, L. Quivet, P. Briand, and U. Hazan. 1999. Mutations in the env gene of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 NDK isolates and the use of African green monkey CXCR4 as a co-receptor in COS-7 cells. J Gen. Virol. 80 (Pt 8):1975-1982.

- 46. Dumonceaux, J., C. Goujon, V. Joliot, P. Briand, and U. Hazan. 2001. Determination of Essential Amino Acids Involved in the CD4-Independent Tropism of the X4 Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 m7NDK Isolate: Role of Potential N Glycosylations in the C2 and V3 Regions of gp120. J Virol. 75:5425-5428.
- 47. Dumonceaux, J., S. Nisole, C. Chanel, L. Quivet, A. Amara, F. Baleux, P. Briand, and U. Hazan. 1998. Spontaneous mutations in the env gene of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 NDK isolate are associated with a CD4-independent entry phenotype. J Virol. 72:512-519.
- Durda, P. J., L. Bacheler, P. Clapham, A. M. Jenoski, B. Leece, T. J. Matthews, A. McKnight, R. Pomerantz, M. Rayner, and K. J. Weinhold. 1990. HIV-1 neutralizing monoclonal antibodies induced by a synthetic peptide. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 6:1115-1123.
- 49. Earl, P. L., R. W. Doms, and B. Moss. 1990. Oligomeric structure of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 87:648-652.
- Earl, P. L., B. Moss, and R. W. Doms. 1991. Folding, interaction with GRP78-BiP, assembly, and transport of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein. J Virol. 65:2047-2055.
- Etemad-Moghadam, B., Y. Sun, E. K. Nicholson, G. B. Karlsson, D. Schenten, and J. Sodroski. 1999. Determinants of neutralization resistance in the envelope glycoproteins of a simian-human immunodeficiency virus passaged in vivo. J Virol. 73:8873-8879.
- 52. Eugen-Olsen, J., A. K. Iversen, P. Garred, U. Koppelhus, C. Pedersen, T. L. Benfield, A. M. Sorensen, T. Katzenstein, E. Dickmeiss, J. Gerstoft, P. Skinhoj, A. Svejgaard, J. O. Nielsen, and B. Hofmann. 1997. Heterozygosity for a deletion in the CKR-5 gene leads to prolonged AIDS- free survival and slower CD4 T-cell decline in a cohort of HIV- seropositive individuals. AIDS 11:305-310.
- Feng, Y., C. C. Broder, P. E. Kennedy, and E. A. Berger. 1996. HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. Science 272:872-877.
- Fenouillet, E., J. C. Gluckman, and E. Bohnlein. 1990. Role of N-linked glycans of envelope glycoproteins in infectivity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol. 64:2841-2848.
- Fenyo, E. M., L. Morfeldt-Manson, F. Chiodi, B. Lind, A. von Gegerfelt, J. Albert, E. Olausson, and B. Asjo. 1988. Distinct replicative and cytopathic characteristics of human immunodeficiency virus isolates. J Virol. 62:4414-4419.
- 56. Fox, D. G., P. Balfe, C. P. Palmer, J. C. May, C. Arnold, and J. A. McKeating. 1997. Length polymorphism within the second variable region of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein affects accessibility of the receptor binding site. J Virol. 71:759-765.
- 57. Freed, E. O. 1998. HIV-1 gag proteins: diverse functions in the virus life cycle. Virology 251:1-15.

- Freed, E. O., D. J. Myers, and R. Risser. 1990. Characterization of the fusion domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp41. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 87:4650-4654.
- Freed, E. O., D. J. Myers, and R. Risser. 1991. Identification of the principal neutralizing determinant of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 as a fusion domain. J Virol. 65:190-194.
- Gallo, R. C., S. Z. Salahuddin, M. Popovic, G. M. Shearer, M. Kaplan, B. F. Haynes, T. J. Palker, R. Redfield, J. Oleske, B. Safai, and 1984. Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. Science 224:500-503.
- Gao, F., E. Bailes, D. L. Robertson, Y. Chen, C. M. Rodenburg, S. F. Michael, L. B. Cummins, L. O. Arthur, M. Peeters, G. M. Shaw, P. M. Sharp, and B. H. Hahn. 1999. Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. Nature 397:436-441.
- Gao, F., L. Yue, A. T. White, P. G. Pappas, J. Barchue, A. P. Hanson, B. M. Greene, P. M. Sharp, G. M. Shaw, and B. H. Hahn. 1992. Human infection by genetically diverse SIVSM-related HIV-2 in west Africa. Nature 358:495-499.
- 63. Gelderblom, H. R. 1991. Assembly and morphology of HIV: potential effect of structure on viral function. AIDS 5:617-637.
- 64. Gottlieb, M. S., R. Schroff, H. M. Schanker, J. D. Weisman, P. T. Fan, R. A. Wolf, and A. Saxon. 1981. Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia and mucosal candidiasis in previously healthy homosexual men: evidence of a new acquired cellular immunodeficiency. N. Engl. J Med. 305:1425-1431.
- 65. Gram, G. J., A. Hemming, A. Bolmstedt, B. Jansson, S. Olofsson, L. Akerblom, J. O. Nielsen, and J. E. Hansen. 1994. Identification of an N-linked glycan in the V1-loop of HIV-1 gp120 influencing neutralization by anti-V3 antibodies and soluble CD4. Arch. Virol. 139:253-261.
- 66. Greenough, T. C., D. B. Brettler, F. Kirchhoff, L. Alexander, R. C. Desrosiers, S. J. O'Brien, M. Somasundaran, K. Luzuriaga, and J. L. Sullivan. 1999. Long-term nonprogressive infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in a hemophilia cohort. J Infect. Dis. 180:1790-1802.
- 67. Hansen, J. E. 1992. Carbohydrates of human immunodeficiency virus. APMIS Suppl 27:96-108.
- 68. Hansen, J. E., H. Clausen, C. Nielsen, L. S. Teglbjaerg, L. L. Hansen, C. M. Nielsen, E. Dabelsteen, L. Mathiesen, S. I. Hakomori, and J. O. Nielsen. 1990. Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection in vitro by anticarbohydrate monoclonal antibodies: peripheral glycosylation of HIV envelope glycoprotein gp120 may be a target for virus neutralization. J. Virol. 64:2833-2840.
- 69. Hansen, J. E., B. Jansson, G. J. Gram, H. Clausen, J. O. Nielsen, and S. Olofsson. 1996. Sensitivity of HIV-1 to neutralization by antibodies against O-linked carbohydrate

epitopes despite deletion of O-glycosylation signals in the V3 loop. Arch. Virol. 141:291-300.

- Hansen, J. E., O. Lund, J. Engelbrecht, H. Bohr, J. O. Nielsen, and J. E. Hansen. 1995. Prediction of O-glycosylation of mammalian proteins: specificity patterns of UDP-GalNAc:polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase. Biochem. J 308 (Pt 3):801-813.
- Hansen, J. E., O. Lund, N. Tolstrup, A. A. Gooley, K. L. Williams, and S. Brunak. 1998. NetOglyc: prediction of mucin type O-glycosylation sites based on sequence context and surface accessibility. Glycoconj. J 15:115-130.
- Hansen, J. E., C. Nielsen, M. Arendrup, S. Olofsson, L. Mathiesen, J. O. Nielsen, and H. Clausen. 1991. Broadly neutralizing antibodies targeted to mucin-type carbohydrate epitopes of human immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 65:6461-6467.
- 73. Hansen, J. E., A. M. Sorensen, M. Arendrup, S. Olofsson, J. O. Nielsen, E. Janzek, C. Nielsen, and H. Loibner. 1993. Enhancement of retroviral infection in vitro by anti-Le(y) IgG: reversal by humanization of monoclonal mouse antibody. APMIS 101:711-718.
- 74. Harada, S., Y. Koyanagi, and N. Yamamoto. 1985. Infection of HTLV-III/LAV in HTLV-I-carrying cells MT-2 and MT-4 and application in a plaque assay. Science 229:563-566.
- 75. Helseth, E., U. Olshevsky, C. Furman, and J. Sodroski. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 envelope glycoprotein regions important for association with the gp41 transmembrane glycoprotein. J. Virol. 65:2119-2123.
- 76. Hemming, A., A. Bolmstedt, B. Jansson, J. E. Hansen, B. Travis, S. L. Hu, and S. Olofsson. 1994. Identification of three N-linked glycans in the V4-V5 region of HIV-1 gp 120, dispensable for CD4-binding and fusion activity of gp 120. Arch. Virol. 134:335-344.
- Hemming, A., G. J. Gram, A. Bolmstedt, B. Losman, J. E. Hansen, A. Ricksten, and S. Olofsson. 1996. Conserved N-linked oligosaccharides of the C-terminal portion of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 and viral susceptibility to neutralizing antibodies. Arch. Virol. 141:2139-2151.
- Hemming, A., L. Lundberg, and S. Olofsson. 1989. A strategy simplifying site-directed mutagenesis in the CD4-binding region of HIV gp 120. Arch. Virol. 107:301-305.
- 79. Hull, R. 1999. Classification of reverse transcribing elements: a discussion document. Arch. Virol. 144:209-213.
- Hymes, K. B., T. Cheung, J. B. Greene, N. S. Prose, A. Marcus, H. Ballard, D. C. William, and L. J. Laubenstein. 1981. Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men-a report of eight cases. Lancet 2:598-600.
- 81. Jin, X., D. E. Bauer, S. E. Tuttleton, S. Lewin, A. Gettie, J. Blanchard, C. E. Irwin, J. T. Safrit, J. Mittler, L. Weinberger, L. G. Kostrikis, L. Zhang, A. S. Perelson, and

D. D. Ho. 1999. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Exp. Med. **189**:991-998.

- Klatzmann, D., E. Champagne, S. Chamaret, J. Gruest, D. Guetard, T. Hercend, J. C. Gluckman, and L. Montagnier. 1984. T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. Nature 312:767-768.
- Kohl, N. E., E. A. Emini, W. A. Schleif, L. J. Davis, J. C. Heimbach, R. A. Dixon, E. M. Scolnick, and I. S. Sigal. 1988. Active human immunodeficiency virus protease is required for viral infectivity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 85:4686-4690.
- Koito, A., G. Harrowe, J. A. Levy, and C. Cheng-Mayer. 1994. Functional role of the V1/V2 region of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 in infection of primary macrophages and soluble CD4 neutralization. J Virol. 68:2253-2259.
- Kolchinsky, P., E. Kiprilov, P. Bartley, R. Rubinstein, and J. Sodroski. 2001. Loss of a Single N-Linked Glycan Allows CD4-Independent Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Infection by Altering the Position of the gp120 V1/V2 Variable Loops. J. Virol. 75:3435-3443.
- 86. Kolchinsky, P., E. Kiprilov, and J. Sodroski. 2001. Increased neutralization sensitivity of CD4-independent human immunodeficiency virus variants. J Virol. 75:2041-2050.
- Kolchinsky, P., T. Mirzabekov, M. Farzan, E. Kiprilov, M. Cayabyab, L. J. Mooney, H. Choe, and J. Sodroski. 1999. Adaptation of a CCR5-using, primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate for CD4-independent replication. J Virol. 73:8120-8126.
- 88. Korber, B., B. Foley, C. Kuiken, S. Pillai, and J. Sodroski. 1998. Numbering positions in HIV relative to HXB2CG. Human Retroviruses and AIDS part IV:27-35.
- Korber, B., J. Theiler, and S. Wolinsky. 1998. Limitations of a molecular clock applied to considerations of the origin of HIV-1. Science 280:1868-1871.
- 90. Kornfeld, R. and S. Kornfeld. 1985. Assembly of asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 54:631-664.
- 91. Koup, R. A., J. T. Safrit, Y. Cao, C. A. Andrews, G. McLeod, W. Borkowsky, C. Farthing, and D. D. Ho. 1994. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. J Virol. 68:4650-4655.
- 92. Kowalski, M., J. Potz, L. Basiripour, T. Dorfman, W. C. Goh, E. Terwilliger, A. Dayton, C. Rosen, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1987. Functional regions of the envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Science 237:1351-1355.
- 93. Krowka, J. F., B. Singh, D. P. Stites, V. C. Maino, D. Narindray, H. Hollander, S. Jain, H. Chen, L. Blackwood, and K. S. Steimer. 1991. Epitopes of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) envelope glycoproteins recognized by

antibodies in the sera of HIV-1-infected individuals. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 59:53-64.

- Kuroda, M. J., J. E. Schmitz, W. A. Charini, C. E. Nickerson, M. A. Lifton, C. I. Lord, M. A. Forman, and N. L. Letvin. 1999. Emergence of CTL coincides with clearance of virus during primary simian immunodeficiency virus infection in rhesus monkeys. J Immunol. 162:5127-5133.
- 95. Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, S. Majeed, J. Robinson, R. W. Sweet, J. Sodroski, and W. A. Hendrickson. 2000. Structures of HIV-1 gp120 envelope glycoproteins from laboratory- adapted and primary isolates. Structure. Fold. Des 8:1329-1339.
- 96. Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, J. Robinson, R. W. Sweet, J. Sodroski, and W. A. Hendrickson. 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. Nature 393:648-659.
- Kwong, P. D., R. Wyatt, Q. J. Sattentau, J. Sodroski, and W. A. Hendrickson. 2000. Oligomeric modeling and electrostatic analysis of the gp120 envelope glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 74:1961-1972.
- Lee, W. R., W. J. Syu, B. Du, M. Matsuda, S. Tan, A. Wolf, M. Essex, and T. H. Lee. 1992. Nonrandom distribution of gp120 N-linked glycosylation sites important for infectivity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 89:2213-2217.
- Lefebvre, J. C., V. Giordanengo, A. Doglio, L. Cagnon, J. P. Breittmayer, J. F. Peyron, and J. Lesimple. 1994. Altered sialylation of CD45 in HIV-1-infected T lymphocytes. Virology 199:265-274.
- 100. Leonard, C. K., M. W. Spellman, L. Riddle, R. J. Harris, J. N. Thomas, and T. J. Gregory. 1990. Assignment of intrachain disulfide bonds and characterization of potential glycosylation sites of the type 1 recombinant human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein (gp120) expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Biol. Chem. 265:10373-10382.
- 101. Levy, J. A., A. D. Hoffman, S. M. Kramer, J. A. Landis, J. M. Shimabukuro, and L. S. Oshiro. 1984. Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with AIDS. Science 225:840-842.
- 102. Lewis, J., P. Balfe, C. Arnold, S. Kaye, R. S. Tedder, and J. A. McKeating. 1998. Development of a neutralizing antibody response during acute primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection and the emergence of antigenic variants. J Virol. 72:8943-8951.
- Lewis, P., M. Hensel, and M. Emerman. 1992. Human immunodeficiency virus infection of cells arrested in the cell cycle. EMBO J 11:3053-3058.
- 104. Li, G., M. Simm, M. J. Potash, and D. J. Volsky. 1993. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA synthesis, integration, and efficient viral replication in growth-arrested T cells. J Virol. 67:3969-3977.

- 105. Li, X. L., T. Moudgil, H. V. Vinters, and D. D. Ho. 1990. CD4-independent, productive infection of a neuronal cell line by human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol. 64:1383-1387.
- 106. Lin, H. J., E. B. Siwak, I. J. Lauder, and F. B. Hollinger. 2001. Long-term culture of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 resulting in loss of glycosylation sites. J Med. Virol. 63:197-202.
- 107. Losman, B. HIV-1 envelope protein gp120: Glycovirology of the V3-loop. 2001. Göteborg., University of Göteborg, Sweden. Dissertation. ISBN 91-628-4315-X.
- 108. Losman, B., A. Bolmstedt, K. Schonning, A. Bjorndal, C. Westin, E. M. Fenyo, and S. Olofsson. 2001. Protection of neutralization epitopes in the V3-loop of oligomeric human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 by N-linked oligosaccharides in the V1 region. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 17, In press.
- 109. Lusso, P. 2000. Chemokines and viruses: the dearest enemies. Virology 273:228-240.
- 110. Ly, A. and L. Stamatatos. 2000. V2 loop glycosylation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 SF162 envelope facilitates interaction of this protein with CD4 and CCR5 receptors and protects the virus from neutralization by anti-V3 loop and anti-CD4 binding site antibodies. J Virol. 74:6769-6776.
- 111. Machuca, R., K. Schonning, J. Hansen, A. Fomsgaard, and C. Nielsen. 2000. No association of HIV-1 envelope (C2-V3-C3) sequence pattern with long- term nonprogression. J Acquir. Immune. Defic. Syndr. 25:103-108.
- 112. Maddon, P. J., A. G. Dalgleish, J. S. McDougal, P. R. Clapham, R. A. Weiss, and R. Axel. 1986. The T4 gene encodes the AIDS virus receptor and is expressed in the immune system and the brain. Cell 47:333-348.
- 113. Malenbaum, S. E., D. Yang, L. Cavacini, M. Posner, J. Robinson, and C. Cheng-Mayer. 2000. The N-terminal V3 loop glycan modulates the interaction of clade A and B human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelopes with CD4 and chemokine receptors. J Virol. 74:11008-11016.
- 114. Manoury, B., E. W. Hewitt, N. Morrice, P. M. Dando, A. J. Barrett, and C. Watts. 1998. An asparaginyl endopeptidase processes a microbial antigen for class II MHC presentation. Nature 396:695-699.
- 115. Markland, W., B. G. Rao, J. D. Parsons, J. Black, L. Zuchowski, M. Tisdale, and R. Tung. 2000. Structural and kinetic analyses of the protease from an amprenavir-resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mutant rendered resistant to saquinavir and resensitized to amprenavir. J Virol. 74:7636-7641.
- 116. Mascola, J. R., M. G. Lewis, G. Stiegler, D. Harris, T. C. VanCott, D. Hayes, M. K. Louder, C. R. Brown, C. V. Sapan, S. S. Frankel, Y. Lu, M. L. Robb, H. Katinger, and D. L. Birx. 1999. Protection of Macaques against pathogenic simian/human immunodeficiency virus 89.6PD by passive transfer of neutralizing antibodies. J Virol. 73:4009-4018.

- 117. Masur, H., M. A. Michelis, J. B. Greene, I. Onorato, R. A. Stouwe, R. S. Holzman, G. Wormser, L. Brettman, M. Lange, H. W. Murray, and S. Cunningham-Rundles. 1981. An outbreak of community-acquired Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia: initial manifestation of cellular immune dysfunction. N. Engl. J Med. 305:1431-1438.
- 118. McCune, J. M., L. B. Rabin, M. B. Feinberg, M. Lieberman, J. C. Kosek, G. R. Reyes, and I. L. Weissman. 1988. Endoproteolytic cleavage of gp160 is required for the activation of human immunodeficiency virus. Cell 53:55-67.
- 119. McDermott, D. H., M. J. Beecroft, C. A. Kleeberger, F. M. Al Sharif, W. E. Ollier, P. A. Zimmerman, B. A. Boatin, S. F. Leitman, R. Detels, A. H. Hajeer, and P. M. Murphy. 2000. Chemokine RANTES promoter polymorphism affects risk of both HIV infection and disease progression in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. AIDS 14:2671-2678.
- 120. McDougal, J. S., A. Mawle, S. P. Cort, J. K. Nicholson, G. D. Cross, J. A. Scheppler-Campbell, D. Hicks, and J. Sligh. 1985. Cellular tropism of the human retrovirus HTLV-III/LAV. I. Role of T cell activation and expression of the T4 antigen. J Immunol. 135:3151-3162.
- 121. McGowan, J. P. and S. S. Shah. 2000. Prevention of preinatal HIV transmission during pregnancy. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 46:657-668.
- 122. McKeating, J. A., J. Bennett, S. Zolla-Pazner, M. Schutten, S. Ashelford, A. L. Brown, and P. Balfe. 1993. Resistance of a human serum-selected human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape mutant to neutralization by CD4 binding site monoclonal antibodies is conferred by a single amino acid change in gp120. J Virol. 67:5216-5225.
- 123. McKeating, J. A., A. McKnight, and J. P. Moore. 1991. Differential loss of envelope glycoprotein gp120 from virions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates: effects on infectivity and neutralization. J. Virol. 65:852-860.
- 124. Michael, N. L., G. Chang, L. G. Louie, J. R. Mascola, D. Dondero, D. L. Birx, and H. W. Sheppard. 1997. The role of viral phenotype and CCR-5 gene defects in HIV-1 transmission and disease progression. Nat. Med. 3:338-340.
- 125. Mizuochi, T., T. J. Matthews, M. Kato, J. Hamako, K. Titani, J. Solomon, and T. Feizi. 1990. Diversity of oligosaccharide structures on the envelope glycoprotein gp 120 of human immunodeficiency virus 1 from the lymphoblastoid cell line H9. Presence of complex-type oligosaccharides with bisecting N- acetylglucosamine residues. J Biol. Chem. 265:8519-8524.
- 126. Mo, H., L. Stamatatos, J. E. Ip, C. F. Barbas, P. W. Parren, D. R. Burton, J. P. Moore, and D. D. Ho. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mutants that escape neutralization by human monoclonal antibody IgG1b12. off. J. Virol. 71:6869-6874.
- 127. Modrow, S., B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, R. C. Gallo, F. Wong-Staal, and H. Wolf. 1987. Computer-assisted analysis of envelope protein sequences of seven human immunodeficiency virus isolates: prediction of antigenic epitopes in conserved and variable regions. J Virol. 61:570-578.

- 128. Moog, C., H. J. Fleury, I. Pellegrin, A. Kirn, and A. M. Aubertin. 1997. Autologous and heterologous neutralizing antibody responses following initial seroconversion in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected individuals. J Virol. 71:3734-3741.
- 129. Moore, J. P. and D. R. Burton. 1999. HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies: how full is the bottle? Nat. Med. 5:142-144.
- Moore, J. P., Y. Cao, D. D. Ho, and R. A. Koup. 1994. Development of the anti-gp120 antibody response during seroconversion to human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 68:5142-5155.
- 131. Moore, J. P. and D. D. Ho. 1993. Antibodies to discontinuous or conformationally sensitive epitopes on the gp120 glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 are highly prevalent in sera of infected humans. J Virol. 67:863-875.
- 132. Moore, J. P. and R. F. Jarrett. 1988. Sensitive ELISA for the gp120 and gp160 surface glycoproteins of HIV-1. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 4:369-379.
- 133. Moore, J. P., Q. J. Sattentau, R. Wyatt, and J. Sodroski. 1994. Probing the structure of the human immunodeficiency virus surface glycoprotein gp120 with a panel of monoclonal antibodies. J. Virol. 68:469-484.
- Moore, J. P. and J. Sodroski. 1996. Antibody cross-competition analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 exterior envelope glycoprotein. J. Virol. 70:1863-1872.
- 135. Moore, J. P., L. A. Wallace, E. A. Follett, and J. A. McKeating. 1989. An enzymelinked immunosorbent assay for antibodies to the envelope glycoproteins of divergent strains of HIV-1. AIDS 3:155-163.
- 136. Mori, K., Y. Yasutomi, S. Ohgimoto, T. Nakasone, S. Takamura, T. Shioda, and Y. Nagai. 2001. Quintuple Deglycosylation Mutant of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus SIVmac239 in Rhesus Macaques: Robust Primary Replication, Tightly Contained Chronic Infection, and Elicitation of Potent Immunity against the Parental Wild-Type Strain. J Virol. 75:4023-4028.
- 137. Morikawa, Y., J. P. Moore, A. J. Wilkinson, and I. M. Jones. 1991. Reduction in CD4 binding affinity associated with removal of a single glycosylation site in the external glycoprotein of HIV-2. Virology 180:853-856.
- 138. Morikawa, Y., H. A. Overton, J. P. Moore, A. J. Wilkinson, R. L. Brady, S. J. Lewis, and I. M. Jones. 1990. Expression of HIV-1 gp120 and human soluble CD4 by recombinant baculoviruses and their interaction in vitro. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 6:765-773.
- 139. Myers, G. and R. Lenroot. 1992. HIV glycosylation: What does it portend? AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 8:1459-1460.
- 140. Myszka, D. G., R. W. Sweet, P. Hensley, M. Brigham-Burke, P. D. Kwong, W. A. Hendrickson, R. Wyatt, J. Sodroski, and M. L. Doyle. 2000. Energetics of the HIV gp120-CD4 binding reaction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 97:9026-9031.

- Narayan, O. and J. E. Clements. 1989. Biology and pathogenesis of lentiviruses. J Gen. Virol. 70 (Pt 7):1617-1639.
- 142. Nielsen, C. M., I. C. Bygbjerg, and B. F. Vestergaard. 1987. Detection of HIV antigens in eluates from whole blood collected on filterpaper. Lancet 1:566-567.
- 143. O'Connor, S. E. and B. Imperiali. 1996. Modulation of protein structure and function by asparagine-linked glycosylation. Chem. Biol. 3:803-812.
- 144. Ogg, G. S., X. Jin, S. Bonhoeffer, P. R. Dunbar, M. A. Nowak, S. Monard, J. P. Segal, Y. Cao, S. L. Rowland-Jones, V. Cerundolo, A. Hurley, M. Markowitz, D. D. Ho, D. F. Nixon, and A. J. McMichael. 1998. Quantitation of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and plasma load of viral RNA. Science 279:2103-2106.
- 145. Olofsson, S. and J. E. Hansen. 1998. Host cell glycosylation of viral glycoproteins: a battlefield for host defence and viral resistance. Scand. J Infect. Dis. 30:435-440.
- 146. Olofsson, S., S. Jeansson, and J. E. Hansen. 1994. Use of lectins in general and diagnostic virology. In: Doyle RJ, Slifkin M, editors. Lectin-Microorganism Interactions. Marcel Dekker Press, 1994:67-109.
- 147. Olshevsky, U., E. Helseth, C. Furman, J. Li, W. Haseltine, and J. Sodroski. 1990. Identification of individual human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 amino acids important for CD4 receptor binding. J. Virol. 64:5701-5707.
- Overbaugh, J. and L. M. Rudensey. 1992. Alterations in potential sites for glycosylation predominate during evolution of the simian immunodeficiency virus envelope gene in macaques. J. Virol. 66:5937-5948.
- 149. Palella, F. J., Jr., K. M. Delaney, A. C. Moorman, M. O. Loveless, J. Fuhrer, G. A. Satten, D. J. Aschman, and S. D. Holmberg. 1998. Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. HIV Outpatient Study Investigators. N. Engl. J Med. 338:853-860.
- 150. Pantaleo, G., S. Menzo, M. Vaccarezza, C. Graziosi, O. J. Cohen, J. F. Demarest, D. Montefiori, J. M. Orenstein, C. Fox, L. K. Schrager, and . 1995. Studies in subjects with long-term nonprogressive human immunodeficiency virus infection. N. Engl. J Med. 332:209-216.
- 151. **Papandreou, M. J. and E. Fenouillet**. 1997. Effect of various glycosidase treatments on the resistance of the HIV-1 envelope to degradation. FEBS Lett. **406**:191-195.
- 152. Parren, P. W., D. R. Burton, and Q. Sattentau. 1997. HIV-1 antibody debris or virion? Nat. Med. 3:366-367.
- 153. Parren, P. W., J. P. Moore, D. R. Burton, and Q. J. Sattentau. 1999. The neutralizing antibody response to HIV-1: viral evasion and escape from humoral immunity. AIDS 13 Suppl A:S137-S162.
- 154. Pauwels, R., E. De Clercq, J. Desmyter, J. Balzarini, P. Goubau, P. Herdewijn, H. Vanderhaeghe, and M. Vandeputte. 1987. Sensitive and rapid assay on MT-4 cells for detection of antiviral compounds against the AIDS virus. J Virol. Methods 16:171-185.

- 155. Peng, C., B. K. Ho, T. W. Chang, and N. T. Chang. 1989. Role of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific protease in core protein maturation and viral infectivity. J Virol. 63:2550-2556.
- 156. Pilgrim, A. K., G. Pantaleo, O. J. Cohen, L. M. Fink, J. Y. Zhou, J. T. Zhou, D. P. Bolognesi, A. S. Fauci, and D. C. Montefiori. 1997. Neutralizing antibody responses to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in primary infection and long-term-nonprogressive infection. J Infect. Dis. 176:924-932.
- 157. Piller, V., F. Piller, and M. Fukuda. 1990. Biosynthesis of truncated O-glycans in the T cell line Jurkat. Localization of O-glycan initiation. J Biol. Chem. 265:9264-9271.
- Pinter, A. and W. J. Honnen. 1988. O-linked glycosylation of retroviral envelope gene products. J Virol. 62:1016-1021.
- 159. Poiesz, B. J., F. W. Ruscetti, A. F. Gazdar, P. A. Bunn, J. D. Minna, and R. C. Gallo. 1980. Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 77:7415-7419.
- 160. Poiesz, B. J., F. W. Ruscetti, M. S. Reitz, V. S. Kalyanaraman, and R. C. Gallo. 1981. Isolation of a new type C retrovirus (HTLV) in primary uncultured cells of a patient with Sezary T-cell leukaemia. Nature 294:268-271.
- 161. Polacino, P. S., V. Stallard, J. E. Klaniecki, S. Pennathur, D. C. Montefiori, A. J. Langlois, B. A. Richardson, W. R. Morton, R. E. Benveniste, and S. L. Hu. 1999. Role of immune responses against the envelope and the core antigens of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmne in protection against homologous cloned and uncloned virus challenge in Macaques. J. Virol. 73:8201-8215.
- Popovic, M., E. Read-Connole, and R. C. Gallo. 1984. T4 positive human neoplastic cell lines susceptible to and permissive for HTLV-III. Lancet 2:1472-1473.
- 163. Portis, J. L., F. J. McAtee, and L. H. Evans. 1985. Infectious entry of murine retroviruses into mouse cells: evidence of a postadsorption step inhibited by acidic pH. J Virol. 55:806-812.
- 164. Profy, A. T., P. A. Salinas, L. I. Eckler, N. M. Dunlop, P. L. Nara, and S. D. Putney. 1990. Epitopes recognized by the neutralizing antibodies of an HIV-1-infected individual. J Immunol. 144:4641-4647.
- 165. Reed, L. J. and M. Muench. 1938. A simple method of estimating fifty per cent endpoints. Am J Hyg 27:493-497.
- 166. Reitter, J. N. and R. C. Desrosiers. 1998. Identification of replication-competent strains of simian immunodeficiency virus lacking multiple attachment sites for N-linked carbohydrates in variable regions 1 and 2 of the surface envelope protein. J. Virol. 72:5399-5407.
- 167. Reitter, J. N., R. E. Means, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1998. A role for carbohydrates in immune evasion in AIDS. Nat. Med. 4:679-684.

- Rencher, S. D. and J. L. Hurwitz. 1997. Effect of natural HIV-1 envelope V1-V2 sequence diversity on the binding of V3-specific and non-V3-specific antibodies. J Acquir. Immune. Defic. Syndr. Hum Retrovirol. 16:69-73.
- 169. Rizzuto, C. D., R. Wyatt, N. Hernandez-Ramos, Y. Sun, P. D. Kwong, W. A. Hendrickson, and J. Sodroski. 1998. A conserved HIV gp120 glycoprotein structure involved in chemokine receptor binding. Science 280:1949-1953.
- 170. Saha, K. and D. J. Volsky. 1998. Are beta-chemokines innocent bystanders in HIV type 1 disease progression? AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 14:1-2.
- 171. Saha, K., D. J. Volsky, and E. Matczak. 1999. Resistance against syncytium-inducing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) in selected CD4(+) T cells from an HIV-1-infected nonprogressor: evidence of a novel pathway of resistance mediated by a soluble factor(s) that acts after virus entry. J Virol. 73:7891-7898.
- 172. Salahuddin, S. Z., P. D. Markham, F. Wong-Staal, G. Franchini, V. S. Kalyanaraman, and R. C. Gallo. 1983. Restricted expression of human T-cell leukemia-lymphoma virus (HTLV) in transformed human umbilical cord blood lymphocytes. Virology 129:51-64.
- 173. Samson, M., F. Libert, B. J. Doranz, J. Rucker, C. Liesnard, C. M. Farber, S. Saragosti, C. Lapoumeroulie, J. Cognaux, C. Forceille, G. Muyldermans, C. Verhofstede, G. Burtonboy, M. Georges, T. Imai, S. Rana, Y. Yi, R. J. Smyth, R. G. Collman, R. W. Doms, G. Vassart, and M. Parmentier. 1996. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. Nature 382:722-725.
- 174. Sanders, R. W., L. Schiffner, A. Master, F. Kajumo, Y. Guo, T. Dragic, J. P. Moore, and J. M. Binley. 2000. Variable-loop-deleted variants of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein can be stabilized by an intermolecular disulfide bond between the gp120 and gp41 subunits. J Virol. 74:5091-5100.
- 175. Schmitz, J. E., M. J. Kuroda, S. Santra, V. G. Sasseville, M. A. Simon, M. A. Lifton, P. Racz, K. Tenner-Racz, M. Dalesandro, B. J. Scallon, J. Ghrayeb, M. A. Forman, D. C. Montefiori, E. P. Rieber, N. L. Letvin, and K. A. Reimann. 1999. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. Science 283:857-860.
- 176. Schonning, K., A. Bolmstedt, J. Novotny, O. S. Lund, S. Olofsson, and J. E. Hansen. 1998. Induction of antibodies against epitopes inaccessible on the HIV type 1 envelope oligomer by immunization with recombinant monomeric glycoprotein 120. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 14:1451-1456.
- 177. Schonning, K., B. Jansson, S. Olofsson, and J. E. Hansen. 1996. Rapid selection for an N-linked oligosaccharide by monoclonal antibodies directed against the V3 loop of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Gen. Virol. 77 (Pt 4):753-758.
- 178. Schonning, K., B. Jansson, S. Olofsson, J. O. Nielsen, and J. S. Hansen. 1996. Resistance to V3-directed neutralization caused by an N-linked oligosaccharide depends on the quaternary structure of the HIV-1 envelope oligomer. Virology 218:134-140.

- 179. Schonning, K., O. Lund, O. S. Lund, and J. E. Hansen. 1999. Stoichiometry of monoclonal antibody neutralization of T-cell line- adapted human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 73:8364-8370.
- 180. Schonning, K., C. Nielsen, J. Iversen, J. O. Nielsen, and J. E. Hansen. 1995. Neutralizing antibodies in slowly progressing HIV-1 infection. J Acquir. Immune. Defic. Syndr. Hum Retrovirol. 10:400-407.
- 181. Schreiber, M., C. Wachsmuth, H. Muller, C. Hagen, H. Schmitz, and J. van Lunzen. 1996. Loss of antibody reactivity directed against the V3 domain of certain human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants during disease progression. J Gen. Virol. 77 (Pt 10):2403-2414.
- 182. Schuitemaker, H., M. Koot, N. A. Kootstra, M. W. Dercksen, R. E. de Goede, R. P. van Steenwijk, J. M. Lange, J. K. Schattenkerk, F. Miedema, and M. Tersmette. 1992. Biological phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clones at different stages of infection: progression of disease is associated with a shift from monocytotropic to T-cell-tropic virus population. J Virol. 66:1354-1360.
- 183. Shibata, R., T. Igarashi, N. Haigwood, A. Buckler-White, R. Ogert, W. Ross, R. Willey, M. W. Cho, and M. A. Martin . 1999. Neutralizing antibody directed against the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein can completely block HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus infections of macaque monkeys. Nat. Med. 5:204-210.
- 184. Siegal, F. P., C. Lopez, G. S. Hammer, A. E. Brown, S. J. Kornfeld, J. Gold, J. Hassett, S. Z. Hirschman, C. Cunningham-Rundles, B. R. Adelsberg, and 1981. Severe acquired immunodeficiency in male homosexuals, manifested by chronic perianal ulcerative herpes simplex lesions. N. Engl. J Med. 305:1439-1444.
- 185. Sjolander, S., A. Bolmstedt, L. Akerblom, P. Horal, S. Olofsson, B. Morein, and A. Sjolander. 1996. N-linked glycans in the CD4-binding domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp160 are essential for the in vivo priming of T cells recognizing an epitope located in their vicinity. Virology 215:124-133.
- 186. Springer, G. F. 1984. T and Tn, general carcinoma autoantigens. Science 224:1198-1206.
- 187. Stamatatos, L. and C. Cheng-Mayer. 1998. An envelope modification that renders a primary, neutralization- resistant clade B human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate highly susceptible to neutralization by sera from other clades. J Virol. 72:7840-7845.
- 188. Starcich, B. R., B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, P. D. McNeely, S. Modrow, H. Wolf, E. S. Parks, W. P. Parks, S. F. Josephs, R. C. Gallo, and . 1986. Identification and characterization of conserved and variable regions in the envelope gene of HTLV-III/LAV, the retrovirus of AIDS. Cell 45:637-648.
- 189. Stein, B. S. and E. G. Engleman. 1990. Intracellular processing of the gp160 HIV-1 envelope precursor. Endoproteolytic cleavage occurs in a cis or medial compartment of the Golgi complex. J Biol. Chem. 265:2640-2649.

- 190. Stein, B. S., S. D. Gowda, J. D. Lifson, R. C. Penhallow, K. G. Bensch, and E. G. Engleman. 1987. pH-independent HIV entry into CD4-positive T cells via virus envelope fusion to the plasma membrane. Cell 49:659-668.
- 191. Sullivan, N., Y. Sun, Q. Sattentau, M. Thali, D. Wu, G. Denisova, J. Gershoni, J. Robinson, J. Moore, and J. Sodroski. 1998. CD4-Induced conformational changes in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 glycoprotein: consequences for virus entry and neutralization. J Virol. 72:4694-4703.
- 192. Surman, S., T. D. Lockey, K. S. Slobod, B. Jones, J. M. Riberdy, S. W. White, P. C. Doherty, and J. L. Hurwitz. 2001. Localization of CD4+ T cell epitope hotspots to exposed strands of HIV envelope glycoprotein suggests structural influences on antigen processing. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 98:4587-4592.
- Temin, H. M. and S. Mizutani. 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of Rous sarcoma virus. Nature 226:1211-1213.
- 194. Trkola, A., T. Dragic, J. Arthos, J. M. Binley, W. C. Olson, G. P. Allaway, C. Cheng-Mayer, J. Robinson, P. J. Maddon, and J. P. Moore. 1996. CD4-dependent, antibody-sensitive interactions between HIV-1 and its co- receptor CCR-5. Nature 384:184-187.
- 195. Trkola, A., M. Purtscher, T. Muster, C. Ballaun, A. Buchacher, N. Sullivan, K. Srinivasan, J. Sodroski, J. P. Moore, and H. Katinger. 1996. Human monoclonal antibody 2G12 defines a distinctive neutralization epitope on the gp120 glycoprotein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 70:1100-1108.
- 196. Trono, D. 1992. Partial reverse transcripts in virions from human immunodeficiency and murine leukemia viruses. J Virol. 66:4893-4900.
- 197. Wain-Hobson, S., P. Sonigo, O. Danos, S. Cole, and M. Alizon. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of the AIDS virus, LAV. Cell 40:9-17.
- 198. Walker, C. M., A. L. Erickson, F. C. Hsueh, and J. A. Levy. 1991. Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus replication in acutely infected CD4+ cells by CD8+ cells involves a noncytotoxic mechanism. J Virol. 65:5921-5927.
- 199. Weissenhorn, W., A. Dessen, S. C. Harrison, J. J. Skehel, and D. C. Wiley. 1997. Atomic structure of the ectodomain from HIV-1 gp41. Nature 387:426-430.
- 200. Weissenhorn, W., S. A. Wharton, L. J. Calder, P. L. Earl, B. Moss, E. Aliprandis, J. J. Skehel, and D. C. Wiley. 1996. The ectodomain of HIV-1 env subunit gp41 forms a soluble, alpha- helical, rod-like oligomer in the absence of gp120 and the N-terminal fusion peptide. EMBO J 15:1507-1514.
- 201. Willey, R. L., J. S. Bonifacino, B. J. Potts, M. A. Martin, and R. D. Klausner. 1988. Biosynthesis, cleavage, and degradation of the human immunodeficiency virus 1 envelope glycoprotein gp160. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 85:9580-9584.
- 202. Wyatt, R., E. Desjardin, U. Olshevsky, C. Nixon, J. Binley, V. Olshevsky, and J. Sodroski. 1997. Analysis of the interaction of the human immunodeficiency virus type

1 gp120 envelope glycoprotein with the gp41 transmembrane glycoprotein. J. Virol. 71:9722-9731.

- 203. Wyatt, R., P. D. Kwong, E. Desjardins, R. W. Sweet, J. Robinson, W. A. Hendrickson, and J. G. Sodroski. 1998. The antigenic structure of the HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein. Nature 393:705-711.
- 204. Wyatt, R., P. D. Kwong, W. Hendrickson, and J. G. Sodroski. 1998. Structure of the core of the HIV-1 gp120 exterior envelope glycoprotein. Human Retroviruses and AIDS part IV:1-7.
- 205. Wyatt, R., J. Moore, M. Accola, E. Desjardin, J. Robinson, and J. Sodroski. 1995. Involvement of the V1/V2 variable loop structure in the exposure of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 epitopes induced by receptor binding. J Virol. 69:5723-5733.
- 206. Wyatt, R., N. Sullivan, M. Thali, H. Repke, D. Ho, J. Robinson, M. Posner, and J. Sodroski. 1993. Functional and immunologic characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins containing deletions of the major variable regions. J. Virol. 67:4557-4565.
- 207. Yang, X., M. Farzan, R. Wyatt, and J. Sodroski. 2000. Characterization of stable, soluble trimers containing complete ectodomains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoproteins. J Virol. 74:5716-5725.
- 208. Yang, X., L. Florin, M. Farzan, P. Kolchinsky, P. D. Kwong, J. Sodroski, and R. Wyatt. 2000. Modifications that stabilize human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein trimers in solution. J Virol. 74:4746-4754.
- 209. Yeh, J. C., J. R. Seals, C. I. Murphy, H. van Halbeek, and R. D. Cummings. 1993. Site-specific N-glycosylation and oligosaccharide structures of recombinant HIV-1 gp120 derived from a baculovirus expression system. Biochemistry 32:11087-11099.
- 210. Yonezawa, A., T. Hori, A. Takaori-Kondo, R. Morita, and T. Uchiyama. 2001. Replacement of the V3 Region of gp120 with SDF-1 Preserves the Infectivity of T-Cell Line-Tropic Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1. J Virol. 75:4258-4267.
- 211. Zhang, H., G. Dornadula, and R. J. Pomerantz. 1996. Endogenous reverse transcription of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in physiological microenviroments: an important stage for viral infection of nondividing cells. J Virol. 70:2809-2824.
- 212. Zhang, L., C. D. Carruthers, T. He, Y. Huang, Y. Cao, G. Wang, B. Hahn, and D. D. Ho. 1997. HIV type 1 subtypes, coreceptor usage, and CCR5 polymorphism. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 13:1357-1366.
- 213. Zhu, T., B. T. Korber, A. J. Nahmias, E. Hooper, P. M. Sharp, and D. D. Ho. 1998. An African HIV-1 sequence from 1959 and implications for the origin of the epidemic. Nature 391:594-597.

På grund av upphovsrättsliga skäl kan vissa ingående delarbeten ej publiceras här. För en fullständig lista av ingående delarbeten, se avhandlingens början.

Due to copyright law limitations, certain papers may not be published here. For a complete list of papers, see the beginning of the dissertation.



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET göteborgs universitetsbibliotek





